MESTRADO

TOXICOLOGIA E CONTAMINAÇÃO AMBIENTAIS

Chronic life-cycle studies with the priority pharmaceutical metformin: molecular and biochemical assessment with Danio rerio

Marta Duarte Ribeiro



2021

Marta Duarte Ribeiro. Chronic life-cycle studies with the priority pharmaceutical metformin: molecular and biochemical assessment with Danio rerio

M.ICBAS 2021

Chronic life-cycle studies with the priority pharmaceutical metformin: molecular and biochemical assessment with *Danio rerio*

Marta Duarte Caldas Ribeiro

FACULDADE DE CIÊNCIAS INSTITUTO DE CIÊNCIAS BIOMÉDICAS ABEL SALAZAR



U. PORTO





Marta Duarte Ribeiro

Chronic life-cycle studies with the priority pharmaceutical metformin: molecular and biochemical assessment with *Danio rerio*

Dissertação de Candidatura ao grau de Mestre em Toxicologia e Contaminação Ambientais submetida ao Instituto de Ciências Biomédicas de Abel Salazar da Universidade do Porto.

Orientador – Doutora Maria Teresa Garrett Silveirinha Sottomayor Neuparth

Categoria – Investigadora Auxiliar

Afiliação – Centro Interdisciplinar de Investigação Marinha e Ambiental (CIIMAR)

Co-orientador – Professor Doutor Miguel Alberto Fernandes Machado Santos

Categoria – Professor Auxiliar com Agregação

Afiliação – Centro Interdisciplinar de Investigação Marinha e Ambiental (CIIMAR) / Departamento de Biologia da Faculdade de Ciências da Universidade do Porto

Acknowledgments

This work was carried out at the Interdisciplinary Centre of Marine and Environmental Research (CIIMAR) at the group of Endocrine Disruptors and Emergent Contaminants (EDEC).

I would like to start by showing my gratitude to my supervisors. Thank you to my cosupervisor Dr Miguel Santos for awakening my current interest in ecotoxicology and for giving me the opportunity to join his research group, back in 2018 to carry out my bachelor's internship, where I stayed until now to perform my master thesis; and thank you to my supervisor Dr Teresa Neuparth for all the guidance and support, for always being available to help me and for believing in my capabilities. I would also like to show my deepest gratitude to Susana Barros. Throughout these years in EDEC, you taught me a great deal inside and out of the lab, gave me your time and guidance, helped me improve my autonomy and self-confidence, and no matter what the task, you always encouraged me to achieve the best version possible. I cannot thank you enough.

To my colleagues from EDEC, thank you for welcoming me so well, making lunches and coffee breaks fun and giving me a hand whenever I needed, without hesitation.

To the best friends that university could have given me, the ones that stayed by my side during these 6 years no matter what: Sara, Raquel, Mafalda, Franco, Dinis, Mónica and Cláudia, thank you for all the memories, laughs, motivation, and for being a second family. To my Carolina, thank you for your unconditional friendship and support, for being a constant presence in my life and for celebrating my achievements as if they were yours. My gratitude also goes to Bruno, for all the car rides at the end of the day and for always having the patience to listen to me on good and bad days.

And finally, I want to thank my parents and my sister for being my biggest supporters, for always believing in me and for the sacrifices you made through my years in university, so I could pursuit my dreams and have enriching opportunities. To my unborn niece, I want you to know that since I knew you were coming, you have become an extra source of motivation to me.

Abstract

More than 451 million people worldwide have diabetes mellitus, and the vast majority is affected by type 2 diabetes (T2DM). Metformin (MET) is the first-line pharmaceutical to treat patients with T2DM. Therefore, it has become one of the most prescribed pharmaceuticals worldwide with a consequent emerging concern in rivers and coastal areas given that aquatic ecosystems are the final destiny of both treated and untreated waste waters.

Despite the ubiquitous nature of MET in the aquatic ecosystems, significant uncertainties exist about chronic effects of environmental concentrations of the drug in non-target aquatic organisms. Therefore, the main objective of this research is to integrate up-to-date ecological, biochemical and molecular endpoints to address the mode(s) of action of MET on the freshwater fish *Danio rerio* (zebrafish) after a full life-cycle exposure to three environmentally relevant concentrations of MET (361 ng/L, 2166 ng/L and 13000 ng/L). In this study, the underlying toxicity mechanisms of MET were investigated by the characterizing key morphometric endpoints (length, weight, condition factor, liver weight and hepatosomatic index of adult zebrafish), biochemical markers (cholesterol and triglycerides of adult zebrafish) and the transcription level of key genes, involved in the energetic metabolism of zebrafish larvae and adults.

The exposure to low concentrations of MET produced stimulating effects on growth parameters (length, weight and condition factor) of adult zebrafish, which suggest the occurrence of Hormesis. Despite the possible hormetic effects observed in growth and weight, liver weight and/or hepatosomatic index were significantly increased in adults, which seems to indicate that MET in these concentrations, is just near the toxicity threshold and hormesis. Biochemically, MET proved to be effective in reducing cholesterol levels in 9 mpf females and males, as well as in triglycerides levels in males. Most of gene expression results exhibited a non-monotonic dose-response curve with significant change in *acaca, idh3a, cox5aa* and *hmgcra* mRNA transcription levels in adults. In 20 dpf larvae, the *igf1* also showed significant changes. Our results also showed that the MET concentration that caused the most effects was the intermediate (2166 ng/L) and that females and males responded differently to MET exposure.

Taken together, these findings expand our understanding of MET effects in teleost fishes, demonstrating significant impacts at environmentally relevant concentrations and highlight the importance of addressing the effects of chemicals under chronic low-level concentrations. Additionally, this study provide important data for environmental risk assessment, given that aquatic organisms are chronically exposed to MET during multiple generations.

Resumo

Mais de 451 milhões de pessoas em todo o mundo têm diabetes mellitus, em que a grande maioria é afetada pela diabetes tipo 2 (DM2). A metformina (MET) é o fármaco de primeira linha para o tratamento de pacientes com DM2 e, portanto, tornou-se um dos fármacos mais prescritos em todo o mundo, apresentando preocupação emergente em rios e áreas costeiras, uma vez que os ecossistemas aquáticos são o destino final para ambas as águas residuais tratadas e não tratadas.

Apesar da omnipresença da MET nos ecossistemas aquáticos, existem incertezas significativas sobre os efeitos crónicos das concentrações ambientais deste fármaco em organismos aquáticos não-alvo. Portanto, o principal objetivo deste trabalho é integrar metodologias ecológicas, bioquímicas e moleculares atualizadas, para abordar o(s) modo(s) de ação da MET no peixe de água doce *Danio rerio* (peixe-zebra), após uma exposição abrangendo o ciclo de vida completo a três concentrações ambientalmente relevantes de MET (361 ng/L, 2166 ng/L e 13000 ng/L). Neste estudo, os mecanismos de toxicidade subjacentes da MET foram investigados pela caracterização dos principais *endpoint*s ecológicos (comprimento, peso, fator de condição, peso do fígado e índice hepatossomático do peixe-zebra adulto), marcadores bioquímicos (colesterol e triglicerídeos do peixe-zebra adulto) e o nível de transcrição de genes-chave, envolvidos no metabolismo energético de larvas e adultos do peixe-zebra.

A exposição a baixas concentrações de MET produziu efeitos estimuladores de parâmetros de crescimento (comprimento, peso e fator de condição) do peixe-zebra adulto, o que sugere a ocorrência de Hormesis. Apesar dos possíveis efeitos horméticos observados no crescimento e no peso, o peso do fígado e/ou o índice hepatossomático aumentaram significativamente em adultos, o que parece indicar que a MET, nessas concentrações, está próxima do limiar de toxicidade e de hormesis. Bioquimicamente, a MET provou ser eficaz na redução dos níveis de colesterol nas fêmeas e machos de 9 meses, bem como nos níveis de triglicerídeos nos machos. A maioria dos resultados da expressão génica exibiu uma curva dose-resposta não monotónica, com mudança significativa nos níveis de transcrição de mRNA dos genes *acaca, idh3a, cox5aa e hmgcra* em adultos. Nas larvas de 20 dpf, o gene *igf1* também mostrou mudanças significativas. Os resultados também mostraram que a concentração de MET que causou a maioria dos efeitos foi a intermediária (2166 ng / L) e que as fêmeas e os machos responderam de forma diferente à exposição à MET.

Todos estes resultados em conjunto, expandem a nossa compreensão dos efeitos da MET em peixes teleósteos, demonstrando impactos significativos em concentrações ambientalmente relevantes e destacam também para a importância de abordar os efeitos dos produtos químicos em baixas concentrações de forma crónica. Além disso, este estudo fornece dados importantes para avaliação de risco ambiental, uma vez que os organismos aquáticos são cronicamente expostos à MET durante várias gerações.

Contents

Acknowledgments	iii
Abstract	v
Resumo	vii
List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xii
List of Abbreviations and Acronyms	xii
CHAPTER I. Introduction	1
1.1 General Introduction	2
1.1.1 Pharmaceuticals in the environment	2
1.1.2 Environmental contamination process	2
1.1.3 Effects of pharmaceuticals in non-target organisms	4
1.2 Anti-diabetic agents and Metformin	5
1.2.1. Metformin's mechanism of action in humans	7
1.2.2 Effects of Metformin in the aquatic environment	9
1.3 Model Species: <i>Danio rerio</i> (zebrafish)	14
1.4 Objectives	16
CHAPTER II. Materials and Methods	17
2. Material and Methods	18
2.1. Chemicals	18
2.2 Zebrafish maintenance and eggs production	18
2.3. Chronic toxicity bioassay	18
2.4 Sampling	19
2.5 Lipid extraction and Cholesterol and Triglycerides quantification	19
2.6. Gene expression	20
2.6.1. RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis	20
2.6.2. Primer Design	21
2.6.3. Quantitative Real Time – PCR	21
2.7. Statistical analysis	25

CHAPTER III. Results	26
3. Results	27
3.1. Morphometric condition endpoints	27
3.2. Cholesterol and Triglycerides quantification	
3.3 Gene expression	
CHAPTER IV. Discussion	31
4. Discussion	
CHAPTER V. Conclusion	
5. Conclusion	
References	

List of Figures

Figure 1. Representative scheme of the sources, pathways and fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment. Adapted from Boxall et al., 2012; Kümmerer, 2010; Santos et al., 2010. 4 Figure 2. Percentage (%) of total sales, from 2010 to 2020 (A) and defined daily dosage per 1000 inhabitants per day, from 2007 and 2019 (B), of antidiabetic drugs used in OECD countries......6 Figure 3. (A) Metformin's mechanisms of action in humans and its consequences; (B) how gluconeogenesis can be affected. Adapted from Foretz et al. (2014, 2019); Rena et al. Figure 4. Comparison of the 5 years evolution of number of packages sold, of 4 active substances of the top 10 most used pharmaceuticals in the Portuguese National Health Figure 5. Chronic toxicity bioassay's setup (A and B).....19 Figure 6. Enzymatic colorimetric assays for cholesterol (A) and triglycerides (B) Figure 8. Effects of MET on zebrafish liver cholesterol (A) and triglycerides (B) levels, expressed as µg per mg of extracted tissue, after 9 months of exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate significant differences from the control group (p<0.05). Figure 9. 20 dpf zebrafish larvae's relative gene expression of igf1, ins, hmgcra and prkaa1, after 20 days of MET exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate Figure 10. Females' relative gene expression of acaca, acadm, cox5aa, idh3a, hmgcra and prkaa1, in adult zebrafish livers, after 9 months of MET exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate significant differences from the control group (p<0.05). Figure 11. Males' relative gene expression of acaca, acadm, cox5aa, idh3a, hmgcra and prkaa1, in adult zebrafish livers, after 9 months of MET exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate significant differences from the control group (p<0.05).

List of Tables

Table 1. Compilation of MET concentrations (ng/L) detected in various WWTPs influentsand effluents as well as surface waters, around the world. n.a: not available.Table 2. Metformin toxicity data for several groups of organisms. Concentration expressedas mg/L.13Table 3. Primer sequences, forward (F) and reverse (R), and parameters used in the qRT-PCR for gene expression quantification in the 20 dpf zebrafish larvae and in the 9-month-old zebrafish livers.24Table 4. Ecological endpoints, for both male and female zebrafish after 9 months ofexposure to MET concentrations. Asterisks (*, ***, ***) indicate significant differences fromthe control group (*-p<0.05; **- p<0.01; ***- p<0.001). Values presented as mean ± standard</td>error.27

- 11KT 11-ketotestosterone
- acaca Acetyl-CoA carboxylase alfa
- acadm Acyl-CoA dehydrogenase medium chain
- ACC Acetyl-CoA carboxylase
- AMP Adenosine 5'-monophosphate
- AMPK AMP-activated protein kinase
- ATP Adenosine triphosphate
- BLAST Basic Local Alignment Search Tool
- BOGA Biotério de organismos aquáticos
- bql below quantification limit
- cAMP Cyclic adenosine monophosphate
- cDNA Complementary DNA
- cG3PD Cytosolic glycerol-3- phosphate dehydrogenase
- Chol Cholesterol
- CIIMAR Centro Interdisciplinar de Investigação Marinha e Ambiental
- cox5aa Cytochrome c oxidase subunit 5Aa
- DHAP Dihydroxyacetone phosphate
- dpf Day(s) post fertilization
- dph Day(s) post hatch
- DM Diabetes mellitus
- EC Effective Concentration
- ECs Emergent contaminants
- EDTA Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
- EE2 Ethinylestradiol
- F Foward
- FBPase Fructose 1,6-bisphosphatase

hmgcra – 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase a

HMGCR - 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase

- hpf Hour(s) post fertilization
- HSI Hepatosomatic index
- IDF International Diabetes Federation
- idh3a Isocitrate dehydrogenase (NAD(+)) 3 catalytic subunit alpha
- igf1 Insulin-like growth factor 1
- IGF1R Insulin-like growth factor 1 receptor
- ins Preproinsulin
- INSR Insulin receptor
- IRS Insulin receptor substrate
- K Fulton's condition factor
- LC Lethal concentration
- MET Metformin
- mG3PD Mitochondrial glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
- MoA Mode of action
- mRNA Messenger ribonucleic acid
- MS-222 Tricaine methanesulfonate
- n.a not available
- NAD⁺ Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
- NADH nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide + hydrogen
- NCBI National center for biotechnology information
- NMDRC(s) Non-monotonic dose-response curve(s)
- NOEC No observed effect concentration
- OCT1 Organic cation transporter 1
- OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
- PBS Phosphate-buffered saline

- PCR Polymerase chain reaction
- PhACs Pharmacologically active compounds
- PKA Protein kinase A
- PMFs Pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities
- prkaa1 Protein kinase, AMP-activated, alpha 1 catalytic subunit
- qRT-PCR Quantitative real time PCR
- R Reverse
- RNA Ribonucleic acid
- rpl8 Ribosomal protein L8
- rpl13 Ribosomal protein L13
- SREBP1c Sterol regulatory element binding protein-1c
- STP Sewage treatment plant
- TCA Tricarboxylic acid
- TGL Triglycerides
- T1DM Type 1 diabetes mellitus
- T2DM Type 2 diabetes mellitus
- USA United States of America
- WHO World Health Organization
- WWTPs Wastewater treatment plants

CHAPTER I. Introduction

1.1 General Introduction

1.1.1 Pharmaceuticals in the environment

The improvements in life expectancy and life quality over the last century are achievements of the constant upgrading in socioeconomic conditions and scientific and technological advances. Despite this global development, the population ageing and the lifestyle choices have been accompanied by increases in the incidence of a number of chronic diseases (Coimbra et al., 2015; Lee & Choi, 2019; Marengoni et al., 2011; Van Oostrom et al., 2014). Chronic diseases, such as diabetes mellitus, obesity, cancer, cardiovascular and pulmonary diseases, depression and anxiety disorders, have been growing exponentially over the last years in human population and are considered one of the main challenges for healthcare systems worldwide (Busse et al., 2010; Marengoni et al., 2011). Along with the increasing healthcare demand due to such diseases, a significant growth in the number of human pharmaceuticals prescribed and consumed worldwide have also been observed (Arnold et al., 2014). In 2019, the USA accounted for 48.7% of world pharmaceutical sales, followed by Europe with 22.9% (EFPIA, 2020).

During the second half of the 20th century, legacy pollutants, such as pesticides and industrial chemicals, were the central focus of chemical pollution due to their toxic/carcinogenic effects and persistence in the environment (Daughton & Ternes, 1999). Pharmaceuticals, however, were disregarded as potential pollutants, since they were detected at trace levels in the environment, and therefore it was assumed that these chemicals did not significantly affect non-target organisms (Arnold et al., 2014; Barros et al., 2018; Daughton, 2016). Currently, there is a growing a concern that pharmaceuticals, for which little knowledge is available, can pose a significant ecological risk for non-target organisms (Elizalde-Velázquez & Gómez-Oliván, 2020). Pharmaceuticals are among some of the emergent contaminants (ECs) of concern, since they target specific pathways at very low concentrations, and therefore behave quite differently from conventional pollutants. Taking in consideration that many signaling pathways are conserved across different taxa, these compounds may cause biologically active effects in a wide range of non-target organisms. Therefore, with the increase of pharmaceutical consumption and the consequent discard into aquatic ecosystems, comes the need to investigate about the fate and potential effects of these chemicals in the environment (Arnold et al., 2014).

1.1.2 Environmental contamination process

Pharmaceuticals represent a complex and important part of the ECs group and are considered as persistent or "pseudo-persistent" pollutants, as a result of their continuous

release into the environment through various pathways (Desbiolles et al., 2018; Fent et al., 2006).

Potential sources from which pharmaceuticals can enter the environment are scattered along the trajectory of a drug's life cycle (Figure 1). Nevertheless, it is possible to name three main sources: pharmaceutical manufacturing, consumption/administration (human and veterinary) and waste management (Archer et al., 2017; Arnold et al., 2014; Fent et al., 2006). For many years, contamination via pharmaceutical manufacturing facilities (PMFs) was thought to be minimal due to good practice regulations and therefore, was neglected (Larsson, 2014; Scott et al., 2018). However, it has been recently demonstrated that PMFs can indeed release significant amounts of pharmacologically active compounds (PhACs) into the environment, through direct or indirect discharges, not only in countries with developing economies, but also in European countries and in the United States of America (Larsson, 2014; Scott et al., 2018; Trautwein et al., 2014). Data from 2014 showed that more than 4000 pharmaceuticals were being used worldwide, in human and veterinary healthcare, and that number is expected to increase in the future (Arnold et al., 2014). Once administrated and due to the incomplete assimilation of the drugs, it is expected for organisms to excrete the unused amount in its original forms and/or in active metabolites, after suffering biotransformation (Rivera-Utrilla et al., 2013; Scott et al., 2018). In cases of livestock, aquaculture or pets, PhACs enter directly into the environment after excretion. As for human patients, these compounds are then released into municipal sewage systems and reach wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs) as domestic and hospital influents (Arnold et al., 2014; Rivera-Utrilla et al., 2013; Xie et al., 2019). However, a large amount of the bioactive compounds that get to WWTPs are not completely removed, due to the absence of adequate methodologies to eliminate this class of chemicals (Ortiz de García et al., 2014). As a consequence, these chemicals remain present in treated wastewaters which will be distributed in surface waters, groundwaters and sediments. Thereby, WWTPs effluents are the major source of aquatic contamination (Archer et al., 2017; Fekadu et al., 2019; Lee & Choi, 2019). Even though pharmaceutical take-back programs exist for over a decade, in order to collect unused and out-of-date medications in an environmentally safe way, reports around the world suggest that community participation is often below 50%. As a result, mismanagement of pharmacological waste by the improper disposal through household waste, sinks and toilets, is still a big source of pollution, mainly due to the lack of education and public awareness for this issue (Bound & Voulvoulis, 2005; Trautwein et al., 2014; Vatovec et al., 2021).



Figure 1. Representative scheme of the sources, pathways and fate of pharmaceuticals in the environment. Adapted from Boxall et al., 2012; Kümmerer, 2010; Santos et al., 2010.

1.1.3 Effects of pharmaceuticals in non-target organisms

The occurrence of PhACs in the aquatic ecosystems, as a consequence of the increasing pharmaceutical consumption rate over the past decades, has become one of the main emerging concerns in ecotoxicological and environmental risk assessment studies (Ortiz de García et al., 2014). In general, pharmaceuticals are designed with a specific mechanism of action and to interact with specific receptors, in human and animals, to trigger the desired effect. However, after entering into the environment, they can also induce unintended and unpredictable effects on non-target organisms after exposure (Boxall et al., 2012; Quesada et al., 2019). Although risk assessment studies regarding the potential side effects of pharmaceuticals residues in the environment are still limited, this issue has become a focus of concern, largely due to the best-documented cases of the danger of environmental concentrations to which non-target organisms are subjected. These two studies are the ones involving ethinylestradiol $[17\alpha$ -ethynylestradiol (EE2)] and diclofenac (EEA, 2010). EE2, a synthetic estrogen present in contraceptive pills found in WWTPs effluents, demonstrated to be a potent endocrine disruptor after inducing feminizing effects, especially in male fish, after exposure to low ng/L concentrations (Gross-Sorokin et al., 2006; Kidd et al., 2007; Purdom et al., 1994; Soares et al., 2009; Versonnen & Janssen, 2004). Soares et al. (2009) exposed zebrafish during their entire life cycle (from egg to 8 mpf) to environmentally relevant concentrations of EE2 (0.5, 1 and 2 ng/L) and reported a significant increase in egg mortality (from 8 to 24 hpf) for all EE2 concentrations, and a

significant increase in vitellogenin (*vgt1*) transcription levels of males, after exposure to 2 ng/L of EE2. Moreover, starting in the 1990s, the population of vultures in the Indian subcontinent experienced a decline of >95% due to renal failure, consequence of their feeding on cattle carcasses treated with diclofenac, an anti-inflammatory drug strongly used in veterinary (Oaks et al., 2004; Pain et al., 2003).

Given these two well investigated and documented events, awareness of the ubiquity and danger of pharmaceuticals in ecosystems began to grow. On the other hand, most ecotoxicological studies only focus on the acute or sub-lethal toxicity effects. Most PhACs are detected in surface waters between ng/L and low µg/L levels and the concentrations considered necessary to produce acute effects are far superior to those actually environmentally relevant (Barros et al., 2018; Fent et al., 2006; Neuparth et al., 2014). Additionally, aquatic organisms can be chronically exposed to pharmaceuticals as they spend their entire life-cycle in contaminated water. Therefore, such standard acute ecotoxicity data are not adequate to represent the true environmental effects and subsequently, risk assessment of PhACs (Barros et al., 2018; Fent et al., 2006).

As mentioned above, pharmaceuticals are bioactive compounds designed to generate biological reactions in known signaling pathways. Thus, when assessing the aquatic toxicity of a PhAC in non-target aquatic organisms, its mode of action (MoA) needs to be taken in consideration (Barros et al., 2020). Hence, chronic life-cycle studies with environmentally relevant concentrations, where the PhAC's mechanism of action is also identified, are a requirement to have an ecologically relevant view of the compounds' impact (Neuparth et al., 2019).

1.2 Anti-diabetic agents and Metformin

Along with the increase of chronic diseases' cases, an increase of the various categories of pharmaceuticals is also inevitable (Arnold et al., 2014). Anti-diabetic drugs is the pharmaceutical group has been exponentially growing in its consumption in OECD countries (Figure 2A and 2B). Between the years 2010 and 2020, Portugal and Chile more than doubled its percentage of antidiabetic drugs in total sales and in several other OECD countries, such as Costa Rica and Estonia, consumption of this pharmaceutical group doubled in the last 12 years. Such growth can be explained in part by the rising prevalence of Diabetes mellitus (DM) which can also be linked with other diseases, for example obesity. According with the World Health Organization (WHO) and the International Diabetes Federation (IDF) the number of people over 18 years old living with DM increased substantially from 108 million in 1980, to 463 million in 2019 and it is projected that by 2045

the number of diabetes' cases will rise to 700 million (Cho et al., 2018; IDF, 2021; OECD, 2019, 2021).



Figure 2. Percentage (%) of total sales, from 2010 to 2020 (A) and defined daily dosage per 1000 inhabitants per day, from 2007 and 2019 (B), of antidiabetic drugs used in OECD countries.

DM is a complex chronic metabolic disease characterized by hyperglycemia (high blood glucose levels), that results from lifestyle and dietary habits, genetic predisposition, as well as environmental factors. Over time DM can increase the risk of having heart and blood vessels complications, neuropathy, nephropathy and retinopathy. Furthermore, these health problems can lead to cardiovascular diseases, lower limb amputation, blindness or kidney failure (Chellappan et al., 2018; Cho et al., 2018; Correia et al., 2008). DM can be divided in two major categories: type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), caused by a decrease in mass and function of ß-cells of the pancreatic islets, leading to insufficient or no insulin production; and type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), which is caused by insulin resistance, along with a pancreatic ß-cells dysfunction. In diagnosed adults, the predominant form is T2DM (Chellappan et al., 2018; Cho et al., 2018; IDF, 2020). In order to achieve adequate glycemic levels and prevent, or at least, delay the development of diabetes complications, most T2DM patients require pharmacological therapy through oral anti-diabetic agents (Chaudhury et al., 2017). These can be used alone or in combination with insulin or other anti-diabetic agents. At the moment, there are several classes of oral anti-diabetic agents available in the pharmaceutical market, including the biguanides (Chaudhury et al., 2017; Cheng & Fantus, 2005).

Metformin (MET) belongs to the biguanides' class, and it is considered the first-line oral therapy to control glucose levels in T2DM patients, as recommended by international guidelines (Davies et al., 2018; Foretz et al., 2019). Currently, Metformin is one of the most effective and safe anti-diabetic agents as it rarely causes hypoglycemia, reduces the risk of cardiovascular mortality and has a very low risk of causing lactic acidosis when compared to other biguanides (phenformin and buformin) (Foretz et al., 2019, 2010; Gong et al., 2012). Furthermore, it is expected that the demand for MET will grow even more in the near future, since according to a number of studies, this drug can be used in the treatment of other chronic diseases such as polycystic ovary syndrome and cancer (Elizalde-Velázquez & Gómez-Oliván, 2020; Yang et al., 2018b; Zi et al., 2018). Therefore, MET has become one of the most prescribed and consumed pharmaceuticals worldwide, being also part of the WHO's essential medicine list (Bailey, 2017; Foretz et al., 2019; WHO, 2019).

Metformin (1,1-dimethylbiguanide hydrochloride) is a derivative drug developed from galegine, a toxic chemical compound found in an herbaceous plant – *Galega officinalis* – used in herbal medicine since Middle Ages (Bailey, 2017; Foretz et al., 2014). While most current drugs are obtained in the laboratory, MET is, therefore, derived from a natural product, without a previously defined pathway, and which began by being designated as a safe and effective therapy. Mechanistic studies came later, when science and technology allowed it, and although its clinical use has been around for 60 years, its MoA is still much debated (Rena et al., 2017). According to the human pharmacokinetic data, the target organs of metformin are the liver, kidney and intestines (Rena et al., 2017). MET it is not metabolized by the human body, being excreted completely unchanged, mainly in the urine (Bailey, 2017; Foretz et al., 2014).

1.2.1. Metformin's mechanism of action in humans

In patients with T2DM, the liver plays a crucial role in lowering the blood glucose levels, under the effect of MET. Physiologically, MET has then shown to reduce hyperglycemia by suppressing gluconeogenesis, as well as decrease fatty acid and triglyceride synthesis and improving glucose uptake, fatty acid ß-oxidation and insulin sensitivity (Foretz et al., 2019; Gong et al., 2012). However, the cellular and molecular mechanisms of action of metformin (Figure 3), are still not fully understood (Rena et al., 2017). Given metformin's chemical properties, its uptake through biological membranes requires specific transporters as it does not pass through cell membranes by means of simple passive diffusion (Vial et al., 2019). The organic cation transporter 1 (OCT1) is the main hepatic MET transporter (Figure 3A). Over the six decades after MET's first commercialization, several underlying mechanisms have been suggested for this pharmaceutical, but it is only in recent years that an agreement has begun to emerge, placing the mitochondria at the center of metformin's cellular actions (Vial et al., 2019). After entering the cell, metformin is believed to target and accumulate in the mitochondria (Foretz

et al., 2019). In the year 2000, two independent research groups reported for the first time that metformin inhibits the complex I of the mitochondrial respiratory chain (EI-Mir et al., 2000; Owen et al., 2000). This hypothesis, over the past 20 years, has been confirmed in several other studies with different biological models and species (Carvalho et al., 2008; Detaille et al., 2002; Ling et al., 2017; Stephenne et al., 2011). According to El-Mir et al. (2000) and several posterior studies, the inhibition of the complex I does not interfere with the downstream oxidative phosphorylation machinery, although still capable of diminish ATP production, accompanied by a decrease in mitochondrial NADH oxidation, a decrease in the proton gradient around the internal mitochondrial membrane and a reduction in oxygen consumption in the cell. Such mechanism is yet poorly understood (Foretz et al., 2014, 2019). Inhibition of complex I can lead to a decrease in ATP levels, which can induce a reduction of gluconeogenesis in order to create a balance, and can also lead to an accumulation of adenosine 5'-monophosphate (AMP), which can reduce the activity of FBPase (a key gluconeogenic enzyme) (Figure 3B) and at the same time can inhibit adenylate cyclase and cAMP-PKA signaling (Foretz et al., 2014, 2019; Rena et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2001). In 2001, it was reported that MET increased the activity of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) in hepatocytes (Zhou et al., 2001). AMPK has an important role in the regulation of energy homeostasis and is a phylogenetically conserved serine/threonine protein kinase composed by three subunits (α , β and γ) where each subunit has several isoforms (α 1, α 2, β 1, β 2, γ 1, γ 2, γ 3) (Foretz et al., 2010). AMPK is a protein that senses alterations in ADP:ATP and AMP:ATP ratios in the cell, and can be activated when ATP levels decrease and AMP and ADP levels increase, as consequences of the inhibition of the complex I (Foretz et al., 2019; Rena et al., 2017; Zhou et al., 2001). Such activation can cause the phosphorylation and inactivation of key enzymes such as acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGCR) (Gong et al., 2012). ACC is a limiting enzyme, responsible for *de novo* lipogenesis and if its activity is suppressed, it will result in lower intracellular levels of fatty acids available for triglycerides synthesis (Yoon, 2009). Moreover, inhibition of ACC also stimulates fatty acids ß-oxidation (Foretz et al., 2010; Zhou et al., 2001). And, therefore, it is expected that at the end of the drug's molecular action, we will have the physiological outcomes mentioned above.



Figure 3. (A) Metformin's mechanisms of action in humans and its consequences; (B) how gluconeogenesis can be affected. Adapted from Foretz et al. (2014, 2019); Rena et al. (2017).

1.2.2 Effects of Metformin in the aquatic environment

As previously mentioned, MET is the primary treatment for type 2 diabetes by reducing glucose levels and it is amongst the most sold PhAC on the Portuguese market according to the annual reports of last years from INFARMED, (Figure 4) (Foretz et al., 2019; INFARMED, 2020).



Figure 4. Comparison of the 5 years evolution of number of packages sold, of 4 active substances of the top 10 most used pharmaceuticals in the Portuguese National Health Service (NHS): Simvastatin, Metformin, Acetylsalicylic acid and Pantoprazole.

Considering that: (1) the consumption of MET is exponentially growing, (2) it is not metabolized by the human body, and (3) it has a Log K_{ow} of -2.64, which makes this drug a strong hydrophilic compound with high mobility in the aqueous phase; this pharmaceutical has potential to be found at increasing concentrations in WWTPs effluents and surface waters (Briones et al., 2016; Markiewicz et al., 2017). In fact, the study performed by De Jesus Gaffney et al. (2017) to determine the efficiency of the Beirolas WWTP (Portugal), on the removal of several PhACs, verified that during the 7-month monitoring program, MET was found in all WWTP's influents and effluents analyzed, and was one of the few PhACs detected at very high levels, with concentrations between 70 μ g/L and 325 μ g/L in influents and 50 – 58 000 ng/L in effluents. Another Portuguese study monitored the occurrence of several pharmaceuticals of great consumption, in four hospitals influents and effluents of a WWTP in Coimbra, Portugal, that receives and co-treats its wastewaters. The maximum MET concentration detected in Coimbra WWTP influents was 1568 ng/L, whereas in the WWTP effluents was 299 ng/L (Santos et al., 2013).

Numerous other authors have also reported the presence of MET in influents and effluents of WWTPs across the globe, where the concentrations vary in the mg/L – μ /L range (Table 1). Also, several studies documented the occurrence of considerable high concentrations of MET in surface waters worldwide, with values in the rage of 35 - 33 600 ng/L (Table 1). Even though MET suffers a reduction due to the WWTPs' incomplete treatment and a dilution effect upon arrival to the receiving waters bodies, MET is still one of the most commonly identified pharmaceutical reported in international surface water monitoring studies, possible to observe in Table 1 (Briones et al., 2016; Houtman et al., 2013). In a study conducted by Ghoshdastidar et al. (2015) in Canada's surface waters, reported that MET was found in a range from 12 to 1487 ng/L, in 67% of the water samples. A year later, another Canadian study reported a maximum detection of 10100 ng/L for MET in surface waters (Table 1). In the early 2000s, it was provided by the U.S Geological Survey for the first time, a national recognition of the occurrence of pharmaceuticals, hormones and other contaminants in USA's surface waters. Within the 139 stream samples, 4.8% corresponds to the frequency of MET detections, with a reported mean of 110 ng/L and a maximum concentration of 150 ng/L (Kolpin et al., 2002). However, a more recent North American monitoring study reported the highest detection of MET until now, in surface waters: 33600 ng/L. As for the European countries, the concentrations detected in surface waters are lower and closer to those used in this study (Table 1).

Considering that MET discharge into aquatic environment is a reality and thus, many aquatic taxa might be at risk, considerable concern and interest has grown for studying the impact of this drug on non-target aquatic organisms (Elizalde-Velázquez & Gómez-Oliván,

2020). Previous studies have reported multiple detrimental effects of MET in different taxonomic groups of aquatic organisms at several levels of biologic organization (Table 2). The main relevant effects of MET previously reported were related with alterations in growth parameters (*Chlorella vulgaris, Lemna minor Brachionus calyciflorus, Plationus patulus, Pimephales promelas* and *Salmo trutta*), reproduction inhibition (*Daphnia similis*), endocrine disruption (*P. promelas, O. latipes*), embryonic malformations (*Danio rerio*), alteration of biochemical and/or gene expression parameters (*Nothobranchius guentheri, Pimephales promelas* and *Oryzias latipes*). With the exception of the aforementioned studies in fish and the ones summarily described in Table 2, which are studies that reported chronic effects of MET in the low/average µg/L range, the majority of the available studies in the literature, including the ones on Table 2 for all the taxa there represented, have been based on acute toxicity tests, with MET concentrations fare above environmental relevance and even above human daily consumption, that varies from 500 to 1000 mg (Bailey, 2017).

Table 1. Compilation of MET concentrations (ng/L) detected in various WWTPs influents and effluents as well as surface waters, around the world. n.a: not available.

	Concentrations detected (ng/L)			
Country	WWTP Influent (max.)	WWTP Effluent (max.)	Surface water (max.)	References
Spain	5900 ⁽¹⁾	1252 ⁽¹⁾	50 ⁽²⁾	⁽¹⁾ Carmona et al. (2017); ⁽²⁾ Sadutto et al. (2020)
	142 300	6400	643	Trautwein et al. (2014)
Germany	95 000	6500	470	Tisler & Zwiener (2018)
Greece	573	23	n.a	Kosma et al. (2015)
Poland	16 800	62.9	n.a	Kot-Wasik et al. (2016)
Iceland	5900	5590	n.a	Huber et al. (2016)
Faroe Islands	9660	7560	77.9	Huber et al. (2016)
USA	100 000 ⁽¹⁾	47 000 ⁽¹⁾	33 600 ⁽²⁾	⁽¹⁾ Blair et al. (2013); ⁽²⁾ Elliott et al. (2017)
Canada	n.a	10 608 ⁽¹⁾	10 100 ⁽²⁾	⁽¹⁾ Ghoshdastidar et al. (2015); ⁽²⁾ de Solla et al. (2016)
China	21 000 ⁽¹⁾	640 ⁽¹⁾	20 015 ⁽²⁾	⁽¹⁾ Yao et al. (2018); ⁽²⁾ Kong et al. (2015)

Table 2. Metformin toxicity data for several groups of organisms. Concentration expressedas mg/L.

Organisms	MET	Duration	Observed effects	Reference	
	concentration				
	(µg/L)				
Clorophyta				I	
Chlorella vulgaris	76800 – 767800	96 hours	Growth inhibition Reduction in the electron transport rate	(Cummings et al., 2018)	
Macrophyte					
Lemna minor	53700 (ªEC ₅₀)	7 days	Growth inhibition	(Godoy et al., 2018)	
Rotifera		•			
Brachionus calyciflorus	25 – 200	16 days	Peak population density and rate of	(García-García et al., 2017)	
Plationus patulus	25 – 200	16 days	increase per day, both decreased		
Crustacean					
Daphnia similis	14300 (EC ₅₀)	48 hours	Immobilization	(Godoy et al., 2018)	
	4400 (*2010)	14 days	reprodution		
Daphnia magna	64000 (EC ₅₀)	48 hours	Immobilization	(Cleuvers, 2003)	
Fish	1	1	1	1	
Danio rerio	600000 (°NOEC)	96 hours	Embryonic malformations	(Godoy et al., 2018)	
Nothobranchius guentheri	2000	10 months	Decrease in growth parameters. Decrease in Chol and TGL content. Swimming alterations. Alteration in mRNA levels of inflammatory cytokines.	(Wei et al., 2020)	
Salmo truta (at 11 ºC)	1 – 100	57 and 95 days	Decrease in growth parameters. Higher liver glycogen content.	(Jacob et al., 2018)	
Salmo truta (at 7 ºC)	10 – 100	95 and 108 days	Decrease in growth parameters. Higher liver glycogen content. Swimming alterations.	(Jacob et al., 2018)	
Pimephales promelas	40	28 days	Increase in mRNA transcription levels of <i>vtg</i> in males	(Niemuth et al., 2015)	
	40	365 days	Decrease in growth parameters.	(Niemuth & Klaper, 2015)	

	40	365 days	Reductioninfecundity.Intersexin male's gonads.Increase in mRNAtranscription levelsof ar, 3β -hsd, 17β -hsd, and cyp19a1andsult2a1in	(Niemuth & Klaper, 2018)	
	31 – 322	170 days	Increase in growth parameters in juveniles. Increase in gonado-somatic index and ovipositor area in females. Delay in reproduction.	(Parrott et al., 2021)	
Oryzias latipes	3.2 – 100	165 days	Decrease in growth parameters. Increase in 11-KT in females.	(Ussery et al., 2018)	
	40 – 360	133 days	Increase in mRNA transcription levels of <i>cyp19a</i> and <i>era</i> , in males. Decrease in mRNA transcription levels of <i>erβ1</i> and <i>vtg2</i> in females.	(Lee & Choi, 2019)	



1.3 Model Species: Danio rerio (zebrafish)

When conducting chronic ecotoxicological bioassays, one of the most important aspects relies on choosing an adequate model organism. For the present work, *Danio rerio* - commonly known as zebrafish - was selected in order to obtain ecologically relevant data to better understand the potential risk of MET in aquatic ecosystems. Taxonomically zebrafish belong to the largest family of freshwater fishes, which is also the second largest vertebrate family, the Cyprinidae, making this species a good representative for a large group of organisms (Padilla & Glaberman, 2020; Segner, 2009).

During the last three decades, zebrafish has become a very popular model species across several disciplines, including development biology, genetics, drug discovery, toxicology and ecotoxicology (Garcia et al., 2016; Lele & Krone, 1996; Williams et al., 2014). There are numerous practical and technical features that make zebrafish an attractive laboratory model species to study biological processes, effects and mechanisms (Segner, 2009). Zebrafish have already a well described life-cycle and individual development, and extensive behavioral, functional, biochemical and molecular available data, including

fundamental resources, such as having the genome fully sequenced (Ruzicka et al. 2019) (Garcia et al., 2016; Kimmel et al., 1995; Padilla & Glaberman, 2020). More advantages offered by this species include easy and economical maintenance, as well as easy manipulation and observation. The short life-cycle facilitates the performance of chronic bioassays, and its small size and high fecundity rates mean having larger sample sizes in toxicity tests and achieve better statistical outcomes, compared, for example, to mammalian studies (Garcia et al., 2016; Lele & Krone, 1996; Segner, 2009). Another aspect that made zebrafish's popularity increase, was the general desire to reduce the number of experiments on mammals. Teleost fishes, such as zebrafish, have a high level of conservation of genomic sequences and in several functional pathways (lipid metabolism, oxidation and inflammation) making them phylogenetically close to mammals. In addition, previous studies showed about 70% of gene homology between the human and zebrafish genomes, and also the presence of approximately 84% of gene associated with human diseases, enabling to extrapolate data to mammals and other vertebrates (Fang & Miller, 2012; Howe et al., 2013; Williams et al., 2014). Given all these characteristics, the model organism zebrafish appeared to us as the appropriate choice to carry out this experimental work.

1.4 Objectives

The main objective of the present work was to investigate several biological responses in zebrafish, after chronic exposure to environmental relevant concentrations of MET (ng/L) during their entire life-cycle in order to simulate a realistic scenario of the effects of MET in non-target aquatic organisms and relate the findings with apical endpoints. For a better characterization of the effects after exposure to MET, two different development stages of the model organism were used for analysis: 20 dpf larvae and 9 mpf males and females. In this work, we integrate multiple key endpoints at ecological level (weight, length, and hepatosomatic index and condition factor - K), biochemical markers of lipid homeostasis (cholesterol and triglycerides) and molecular analysis of genes coding for important enzymes involved in the lipid and energy metabolism (transcription levels of acaca, acadm, cox5aa, hmgcra, idh3a, igf1, ins and prkaa1 genes). These endpoints should give more information regarding the MoA of MET at environmentally relevant concentrations in non-target aquatic organisms, as well as insights over possible long-term effects at individual and population level. Another aim was to increase MET database, in order to better understand and predict its potential adverse effects in wild fish populations under chronic exposure.

CHAPTER II. Materials and Methods

2. Material and Methods

2.1. Chemicals

1,1-Dimethylbiguanide hydrochloride (CAS: 1115-70-4), commonly known as metformin (MET), was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Germany). MET stock and working solutions were prepared in distilled water and stored at - 20°C.

2.2 Zebrafish maintenance and eggs production

Wild type zebrafish breeding stock were kept at *Biotério de Organismos Aquáticos* (BOGA) located at CIIMAR under dechlorinated filtered and aerated water at 28 ± 1 °C and 14:10h (light:dark) photoperiod. Fish were fed, *ad libitum*, three times per day with commercial fish diet Tetramin (Tetra, Melle, Germany), supplemented with live brine shrimp (*Artemia* spp). The amount of food distributed was adjusted according to fish development stage and size, in the same proportion to all aquaria. In the afternoon before breeding, animals were housed in cages with a net bottom covered with marbles, in a proportion of 1:2 (female:male). At the following morning, approximately 1 - 1.5 h after the beginning of the light period, breeding fish were carefully removed from the cages, and resulting eggs collected and cleaned. Only fertilized eggs were used for the experimental procedure.

2.3. Chronic toxicity bioassay

The chronic ecotoxicological bioassay was performed at BOGA. The experiment was subjected to an ethical review process carried out by CIIMAR's animal welfare body (ORBEA) prior to the beginning of the experimental work. The bioassay was performed in compliance with the European Directive 2010/63/EU on the protection of animals used for scientific purposes, and the Portuguese 'Decreto Lei' 113/2013.

The experiment consisted of four treatments: a control (dechlorinated water) in triplicate and three MET concentrations in duplicate: 361 ng/L, 2166 ng/L and 13000 ng/L (Figure 3). The selection of these MET concentrations was based on environmental concentrations reported in literature (Table 1). Aquaria were maintained with a water temperature of $28 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C, 14:10 h (light:dark) photoperiod, pH 7.5 ± 0.2 and a mean ammonia and nitrite concentration of 0.04 ± 0.02 mg/L and 0.03 ± 0.03, respectively. The bioassay was conducted for 9 months and started by randomly allocating 400 newly fertilized zebrafish eggs (<4 hpf) in 7 L aquaria, under a flow-through system, where water flow was maintained at 1.01 L per hour by means of two peristaltic pumps, one supplied with dechlorinated, heated and charcoal filtered tap water (ISM 444, ISMATEC), and another with stock metformin solutions (ISMATEC). At 20 dpf, 100 larvae were allocated to

30 L aquaria and the remaining ones were collected for molecular analysis. Density was again reduced to 35 animals per aquaria at 60 dpf.



Figure 5. Chronic toxicity bioassay's setup (A and B).

2.4 Sampling

At the end of the chronic bioassay, all animals were sacrificed with an anesthetic overdose of 300 mg/L tricane methanesulfonate (MS-222) buffered with the same amount of sodium hydrogen carbonate. All animals were measured and weighted to calculate the Fulton's condition factor, which represents the relation between weight and length of each individual fish, according to the formula: $K = (weight / length^3) \times 100$ (Nash et al., 2006).

Livers of males and females (9 mpf) of each treatment were collected and weighted for the Hepatosomatic index (HSI) determination. The index was calculated according to the following equation: $HSI = (Liver weight (g) / Fish weight (g)) \times 100$. The livers were then frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at - 80°C until lipid extraction or preserved in RNALater (Sigma-Aldrich) at - 80°C for gene expression analysis.

2.5 Lipid extraction and Cholesterol and Triglycerides quantification

Lipids were extracted from the adult liver samples stored at - 80° C using an extraction protocol, adapted from Schwartz & Wolins (2007), with a low toxicity solvent. The liver tissues were homogenized in separated tubes, using a Precellys 24 homogenizer, with 10 nM PBS buffer pH 7.4, containing 10mM EDTA (10 mg of tissue per 1 mL buffer) and two ceramic beads per tube. The homogenate of each sample was transferred (500 µL), in duplicate, to test glass vials containing 5 mL of isopropanol/hexane solution (4:1 proportion).

All samples were vortexed and incubated at room temperature in the dark, with constant shaking (170/180 rpm) for 1 hour. To prevent lipid peroxidation, samples were always passed through nitrogen current before closing vials. After the 1-hour incubation, samples were washed with 2 mL of petroleum ether/hexane (1:1) solution. Vials were again vortexed and put in the dark for a 10 minutes' incubation, at room temperature. 2.5 mL of Milli-Q H2O was added to each vial, then vortexed and incubated at room temperature in the dark, with constant shaking for 20 min. The phases were then separated by centrifugation at 1000 × G, for 10 min. The upper phase contains the lipids, was collected into new vials and evaporated to dehydration under nitrogen current. At the end, the dried extracts were then stored at - 20°C, until cholesterol and triglycerides quantification.

Before quantification, dry extracts were re-suspended in 100 µL of isopropanol and sonicated in an ultra-sound bath Bandelin Sonorex RK100H, for 15 minutes, at room temperature. Quantification of both parameters was performed through enzymatically colorimetric assays using Infinity Cholesterol Liquid Stable reagent and Infinity Triglycerides Liquid Stable Reagent, (Thermo scientiphic, Biognóstica, Portugal) and following the manufacturer's protocol (Figure 6). Absorbance was determined at 490nm using a microplate reader (Biotech Synergy HT) coupled with Gen5 software (version 2.0). In every run, a standard curve was performed for optimal quantification and all samples were measured in duplicates. Cholesterol and triolein standards were prepared by 6 serial dilutions (from 5 mg/mL to 0.156251 for cholesterol and 2 mg/mL to 0.0625 for triolein).



Figure 6. Enzymatic colorimetric assays for cholesterol (A) and triglycerides (B) quantification.

2.6. Gene expression

2.6.1. RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

20 dpf larvae (pools of 2) and 9 mpf male and female liver samples from each treatment were preserved in RNALater and kept at - 80° C until use. Samples were then

individually homogenized with lysis solution, ß-mercaptoethanol and two ceramic beads on a Precellys 24 homogenizer to lyse the cells. The homogenate was then used to isolate total RNA via the Illustra RNAspin Mini RNA Isolation kit (GE Healthcare), according to the manufacturer's standard protocol (N=6-8). RNA quantification was performed by the measurement of optical density with a Take3TM on a microplate reader (Biotech Synergy HT) coupled with the Gen5 software (version 2.0). RNA quality was verified by electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose gel and through the measurement of the ratio of absorbance at $\lambda 260/\lambda 280$ nm. All isolated RNA samples were stored at - 80°C until further use. Total cDNA was generated from 600 ng and 1 µg of total RNA extracted from the larvae and adult livers, respectively, using the iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad).

2.6.2. Primer Design

The qRT-PCR zebrafish primers for the genes *acaca*, *acadm*, *cox5aa*, *idh3a*, *igf1*, *hmgcra* and *rpl8*, were obtained in other published studies (Table 3). For the other genes, where the qRT-PCR primers were not available (the target genes – *ins*, *prkaa1* and reference gene – *rpl13*), the zebrafish mRNA sequences were acquired from NCBI's database (Table 3), and specific primers were designed for qRT-PCR using the Primer designing tool "Primer – BLAST" (NCBI) and Beacon Designer (Premier Biosoft International). To confirm the specificity of each primer, a PCR was performed in a Tgradient thermocycler (Biometra), and the subsequent products were run by electrophoresis in a 1.5% agarose gel. The resulting bands, with the expected size for each gene, were cut out and purified with GelPure (NzyTech), following the manufacturers' protocol and sent for sequencing at GATC (Eurofins Genomics). The sequencing results were then uploaded and analyzed with the BLAST tool from NCBI in order to confirm the amplified sequence (Table 3).

2.6.3. Quantitative Real Time – PCR

Several proteins involved in the MoA of MET, were selected to evaluate their gene expression in each of the 4 treatments performed (control, 361, 2166 and 13000 ng/L MET concentrations (Figure 7). Inside the cell, MET appears to upregulate the cytoplasmatic 5'-AMPK pathway and reducing the cellular energy status (Xu et al., 2015). The protein kinase, AMP-activated, alpha 1 catalytic subunit (*prkaa1*) was one of the first genes to be selected, due to its role in the MoA of metformin. Since MET targets for the mitochondria, two genes that are involved in the cellular respiration were selected. *Idh3a*, a gene encoding isocitrate dehydrogenase (IDH) is a rate-limiting enzyme in the tricarboxylic acid cycle, and *cox5aa* (cytochrome c oxidase subunit 5Aa), which is part of the complex IV of the electron transport

chain and plays a key role in the aerobic mitochondrial energy metabolism (Arnold, 2012; Barros et al., 2020; Kadenbach et al., 2000). Once AMPK is activated, catabolic processes are stimulated (e.g. fatty acid oxidation) and anabolic pathways are suppressed (e.g. gluconeogenesis and fatty acid synthesis). The fatty acids ß-oxidation, that occurs in the mitochondria, can be carried out by the medium-chain acyl-CoA dehydrogenase (acadm) (Barros et al., 2020). The gene encoding acetyl-CoA carboxylase alpha (acaca) was selected, since this cytosolic enzyme (ACC) catalyzes the carboxylation of acetyl-CoA to form malonyl-CoA, an essential substrate in fatty acids synthesis (Alves-Bezerra & Cohen, 2018; Harwood Jr, 2005). Since cholesterol was one of the biochemical parameters analyzed, the gene that encodes the 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase protein (HMGCR), a limiting enzyme in the synthesis of cholesterol, was selected to complement the biochemical data - hmgcra (Al-Habsi et al., 2016). The remaining genes were only evaluated in the 20 dpf larvae, which are *iqf1* and *ins*. The larvae stage is, where major morphological and physiological changes occur. One of the main hormones responsible for regulating growth in zebrafish larvae is the lgf-1 (insulin-like growth factor 1) encoded by igf1 (Opazo et al., 2017). As for insulin (ins), the most powerful anabolic hormone, it also plays a vital role in regulating growth and the overall metabolism of vertebrates. Insulin effects encompass stimulation of glucose uptake and synthesis of lipids, glycogen and other proteins (Yang et al., 2018a; Zhou et al., 2001). Gene expression profiles of acaca, acadm, cox5aa, hmgcra, idh3a, igf1, ins and prkaa1 were assessed by means of quantitative real time PCR (qRT-PCR). Ribosomal protein L8 (rpl8) and ribosomal protein L13 (rpl13), were used as reference genes since their expression levels did not show significant changes within the different treatments. rpl8 was used for gene expression analysis of 20 dpf larvae, while rpl13 was used for the analysis of liver samples from adult zebrafish. Primers were already described by other authors or designed and tested for this study (Table 3). The cDNA of 20 dpf and liver samples of each treatment (N=6-8) were amplified in duplicate using the Mastercycler®ep realplex system (Eppendorf) in 96-well optical white plates, containing 5 µL of NZY qPCR Green Master Mix (2x) (nzytech), 0.4 µL of each primer (forward and reverse), 2.2 μ L of water and 2 μ L of cDNA at 100 nmol, in order to reach a final reaction volume of 10 µL. In every plate, a nontemplate control was included. In order to determine the efficiency of the primers, and consequently, of the reaction, a two-step gRT-PCR was performed as follows: 95°C of initial denaturation for 2 minutes, followed by 40 cycles of amplification with a denaturation at 95°C for 5 seconds and combined annealing and extension at $58 - 62^{\circ}$ C, depending on the pair of primers previously validated, for 25 seconds. To confirm the specificity of the reactions, a melting curve (from 55°C to 95°C) was generated in each run. PCR products were then analyzed by electrophoresis in 2% agarose gel to check the presence of single bands with expected size

between 94 and 198 bp, depending on the pair of primers (Table 3), in order to confirm the reaction. The PCR efficiency for the target and reference genes was determined by a standard curve, using six serial dilutions of cDNA pools of all samples (from 0.064 to 200 ng of cDNA in the 20 dpf larvae samples and from 500 to 2.058 ng of cDNA in adult liver samples). The average PCR efficiencies obtained for target genes ranged from 87 to 105% (Table 3).

Relative change in transcription abundance of the genes of interest was normalized to *rpl8* or *rpl13* and calculated using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ analysis method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001). Control expression levels (dechlorinated water treatment) were normalized to 1 and data were then expressed as fold changes of the control group.



Figure 7. Schematic representation of the sites of action of the selected genes.

Table 3. Primer sequences, forward (F) and reverse (R), and parameters used in the qRT-PCR for gene expression quantification in the 20 dpf zebrafish larvae and in the 9-month-old zebrafish livers.

Gene	Sequence (5' – 3')	Expected band size (bp)	Combined annealing and extension temperature (°C)	Average efficiency (%)	Reference
acaca	F: AGAGAGGGCAGGTTTTACCA	104	60	95	(Lyssimachou et al., 2015)
	R: GCCATCATACGAGAGCAACA	194			
acadm	F: CCGATCCCAAATGTCCTGCT	120	60	92	(Barros et al., 2020)
	R: ATGTAATGCCCCTGGTGTCG	125	00		
cox5aa	F: CGCCCTTCGACTGTCATTCT	111	62	95	(Barros et al., 2020)
	R: TCATCCGTCTCCTGTTTGCC		02	30	
idh3a	F: CACCCATCCATGAACCTGCT	182	62	96	(Barros et al., 2020)
	R: CTCTGAACAACTCCATCCACGA	102	02		
igf1	F: GGCAAATCTCCACGATCTCTAC	108	62	105	(Lyssimachou et al., 2015)
	R: CGGTTTCTCTTGTCTCTCTCAG	150	02		
ins	F: ATCCACCATTCCTCGCCTCT	101	60	08	This study
	R: TGCTTACACTGGACACGACC	101	00	30	
hmgcra	F: TCGTGGAGTGCCTGGTGATTGGT	177	62	87	(Barros et al., 2018)
	R: TGGGTCTGCCTTCTCTGCTCTCTC	177			
prkaa1	F: GAGTGGGGACGTTCGGAAAA	04	60	96	This study
	R: CTGCGGATCTTCTGTCGGTT	54			
rpl8	F: TTGTTGGTGTTGTTGCTGGT	126	59	00	(Lyssimachou et al., 2015)
	R: GGATGCTCAACAGGGTTCAT	136	JO	33	
rpl13	F: GCTGAAGGAATACCGCACCA	100	60	08	This study
	R: TCCAGTAAGCTGTGTTGCCAT	109	00	90	

2.7. Statistical analysis

Data obtained from this experimental study was checked for normality (Kolmogorov-Smirnov test) and homogeneity of variances (Levene's test) followed by a one-way ANOVA. Post-hoc comparisons were carried out using Fisher's least significant difference (LSD) test. Significant differences were set as p<0.05. All the statistical analyses were computed with Statistica 12 (Statsoft, USA).

CHAPTER III. Results

3. Results

3.1. Morphometric condition endpoints

Table 4 shows the length, weight, Fulton's condition factor, liver weight and the hepatosomatic index (HSI) of zebrafish males and females after 9 months of exposure to 361 – 13000 ng/L of MET. The male's average length and weight were significantly increased in the highest MET concentration tested (13000 ng/L) in comparison to control groups, while female's length and weight were not affected by MET exposure. The Fulton's condition factor was significantly increased for both male and female, after exposure to 2166 ng/L and 13000 ng/L in each sex, respectively. Liver weight was significantly higher in males exposed to 13000 ng/L of MET and also in all MET exposed females, while the HSI showed a significant increase for females exposed to 361 and 2166 ng/L MET concentrations. Male's HSI was not affected after MET exposure.

Table 4. Ecological endpoints, for both male and female zebrafish after 9 months of exposure to MET concentrations. Asterisks (*, **, ***) indicate significant differences from the control group (*-p<0.05; **- p<0.01; ***- p<0.001). Values presented as mean \pm standard error.

	~ ~ 4
$M 3.76 \pm 0.07 3.86 \pm 0.03 3.80 \pm 0.06 3.97^{**} \pm 0.01 3.9$	0.04
F 4.05 ± 0.04 4.12 ± 0.06 4.14 ± 0.04 4.07 ± 0.04	.05
Weight (mg) M 510 \pm 2.0 550 \pm 1.0 550 \pm 2.0 610*** \pm	2.0
F 750 \pm 3.0 830 \pm 5.0 820 \pm 4.0 850 \pm 4	l.0
Fulton'sM 0.94 ± 0.03 0.94 ± 0.01 $1.02^* \pm 0.03$ 0.97 ± 0.03 condition	.02
factor (K) F 1.12 ± 0.03 1.16 ± 0.03 1.15 ± 0.03 $1.25^{**} \pm 1.12 \pm 0.03$	0.03
M 4.39 ± 0.68 5.77 ± 0.58 6.17 ± 0.68 7.42 ^{**} \pm	0.99
(mg) F 8.33 ± 0.84 19.72 *** ± 2.81 15.58 *** ± 0.12 12.94 *** ±	1.56
Hepato- SomaticM 0.85 ± 0.13 1.14 ± 0.13 1.14 ± 0.13 0.97 ± 0.000	.12
index (HSI) F 1.17 ± 0.12 2.23** ± 0.29 2.20*** ± 0.28 1.51 ± 0	.18

3.2. Cholesterol and Triglycerides quantification

Quantification of cholesterol (Figure 8A) and triglycerides (Figure 8B) in zebrafish males and females revealed significant differences from the control treatment, after 9 months of MET exposure.

Cholesterol's concentration in the liver of the adult males, significantly decreased after exposure to 2166 ng/L and 13000 ng/L of MET, when compared with the control. Adult females also showed a similar pattern, being the cholesterol levels significantly lower for the medium concentration (2166 ng/L).

Triglycerides (TGL) levels in the adult male livers were significantly lower after exposure to the intermediate MET concentration, 2166 ng/L, in comparison to the control, whereas no effects were recorded for the lower (361 ng/L) and highest (13000 ng/L) MET concentrations, with responses were similar to the control conditions. Therefore, the intermediate MET exposure appeared more effective than the highest or lower exposures. This response appeared to be non-monotonic, showing an inverted U-shape. Females' TGL remained unchanged.



Figure 8. Effects of MET on zebrafish liver cholesterol (A) and triglycerides (B) levels, expressed as μ g per mg of extracted tissue, after 9 months of exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate significant differences from the control group (p<0.05).

3.3 Gene expression

20 dpf zebrafish larvae, showed significant differences compared to the control group in the expression levels of *igf1* at the concentration of 13000 ng/L (Figure 9) with a fold induction of 1.79. *ins*, *hmgcra* and *prkaa1* did not showed significant alterations on their mRNA levels.

Adult zebrafish females (Figure 10) and males (Figure 11) livers also showed significant alterations from the control group on their gene's expression levels after 9 months of exposure to MET, with females exhibiting more changes than males. In females, the *acaca* gene was up regulated by 3.05 fold from the control group after exposure to 2166 ng/L of MET. The transcription levels of *cox5aa* showed an up regulation of 1.45 fold for 364 ng/L of MET exposure. *idh3a* was also up regulated by 1.81 and 2.53 fold from the control treatment after exposure to 364 ng/L and 2166 ng/L of MET, respectively. *hmgcra* expression was found to be highly up regulated in females, with a 4.73 and 13.45 fold increase from the control group after exposure to 364 ng/L and 2166 ng/L of MET. On the other hand, a 5.88 fold downregulation of *hmgcra* was observed in males exposed to 2166 ng/L of MET. In both male and female livers the mRNA levels of all significantly altered genes followed a non-monotonic dose-response curve (NMDRC), with a U-shaped curve in males, and inverted U-shaped curve in females. Neither females nor males exhibited significant differences in *acadm* and *prkaa1* mRNA expression levels.



Figure 9. 20 dpf zebrafish larvae's relative gene expression of igf1, ins, hmgcra and prkaa1, after 20 days of MET exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate significant differences from the control group (p<0.05).



Figure 10. Females' relative gene expression of acaca, acadm, cox5aa, idh3a, hmgcra and prkaa1, in adult zebrafish livers, after 9 months of MET exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate significant differences from the control group (p<0.05).



Figure 11. Males' relative gene expression of acaca, acadm, cox5aa, idh3a, hmgcra and prkaa1, in adult zebrafish livers, after 9 months of MET exposure. Error bars indicate standard errors; asterisks (*) indicate significant differences from the control group (p<0.05).

CHAPTER IV. Discussion

4. Discussion

For the past decades, metformin has become extremely popular since it is prescribed for the treatment of several chronic diseases, such as T2DM, polycystic ovary syndrome and some types of cancer where insulin resistance is present (Briones et al., 2016; Yang et al., 2018b; Zi et al., 2018). As a result of its high rate of prescription and consumption, MET discharge into aquatic ecosystems has increased exponentially, and therefore, MET is now one of the most abundant pharmaceuticals found in these environments (Table 1). Being MET a PhAC (pharmacologically active compound), it is meant to produce biological responses at low concentrations, potentially leaving non-target organisms that share conserved targeted pathways with mammalian at risk (Arnold et al., 2014). Regardless of the growing number of studies concerning the acute toxicity of MET in aquatic ecosystems, there is a major knowledge gap concerning the chronic effects of this emerging contaminant (Ussery et al., 2018). In order to address the current gap regarding the effects following a chronic exposure of non-target aquatic species to MET, the present study aimed to investigate biological responses at various levels in the model organism zebrafish, after a chronic exposure of 9 months to environmentally relevant concentrations of MET (361, 2166 and 13000 ng/L). This work integrated key ecological endpoints such as length, weight, and liver weight, complemented with the determination of cholesterol and triglycerides levels and the expression of key genes related to the MoA of MET in liver. The results of this study showed that the 9-month chronic exposure to the selected concentrations, MET induced a series of disruptive effects, in several ecological endpoints, as well as at biochemical and molecular level. Results also revealed a few sexdependent differences, which can suggest that females and males may not respond similarly to MET. The chronic exposure to MET in ng/L to µg/L range lead to an increase of male length and weight at the highest concentration, while these two parameters were not affected in the females. Both male and female had their Fulton's condition factor increased as well. The endpoints related to the liver also showed remarkable differences, with females showing a significant increase, both in terms of liver weight and HSI. So far these parameters, clearly affected in zebrafish as a consequence of exposure to environmentally relevant concentrations of MET, are not concordant with the few MET chronic studies available in the literature that reported decrease of length and weight or no effects after chronic exposures to MET (Niemuth et al., 2015; Parrott et al., 2021; Ussery et al., 2018). Ussery et al. (2018) reported a decrease in growth parameters (length and weight) on juveniles Oryzias latipes (Japanese medaka) following a MET exposure to 1.0, 3.2, 10, 32 and 100 µg/L from 6 hpf through 28-days post hatch, where differences started to be observed at concentrations on 3.2 µg/L and above. Similarly, a study with exposed Pimephales promelas (fathead minnows) juveniles with 30 dph to 40 µg/L for 365 days, also

resulted in a decrease in weight and K (Niemuth & Klaper, 2015). Nonetheless, a recent study performed by Parrott et al. (2021), revealed that *P. promelas* generational exposure to MET concentrations ranging from 3 to 322 μ g/L did not lead to differences in neither growth nor weight of adults.

Overall, together with the present study, the available literature on the effects of chronic exposure to MET in growth parameters of non-target organisms has revealed to be inconsistent. This may be a consequence of the scarce amount of chronic life-cycle studies with MET that used different species, concentrations and development stages. In fact, results of the existing studies in the literature are not in agreement, may be a consequence from the scarce chronic life-cycle studies with MET, which lead us to speculate that ecological endpoints may well be disrupted by MET, but results will vary depending on the concentrations used, the development stage and the species selected for the assay. It should also be noticed that the MET concentrations used in the current study are environmentally relevant and much lower than the ones used on the studies mentioned above. The hypothesis that we advance to explain the stimulating effects of MET contamination on adult zebrafish growth parameters (length, weight and K) is Hormesis. Hormesis is thought to result from an overcompensation of the homeostatic regulatory control mechanisms induced by low doses of toxicants which in consequence will be responsible for stimulatory effects in a population (i.e enhancement of survival, growth and/or reproduction). The event of hormesis has been documented in vertebrates and invertebrates in response to a variety of stressors (Calabrese, 2004, 2008; Neuparth et al., 2005). Despite the possible hormetic effects observed in adult zebrafish growth and weight, liver weight and/or hepatosomatic index were significantly increased, which seems to indicate that MET in these concentrations, is just near the toxicity threshold and hormesis. The remaining endpoints analyzed (biochemical parameters and mRNA expression levels) did not show a hormetic effect, although NMDRC can be observed in some of the results.

The biochemical results revealed that MET was effective in significantly decreasing cholesterol levels in males exposed to 2166 and 13000 ng/L and in females exposed to 2166 ng/L of MET. A similar behaviour was observed in the TGL content of exposed males, being the levels significantly lower for the intermediate concentration (2166 ng/L). The quantification of TGL of exposed females did not show alterations. The results are in agreement to the MoA reported in mammalians, where MET is described to inhibit the synthesis of both cholesterol and triglyceride content (Fang & Miller, 2012; Gong et al., 2012). Two studies that evaluated the lowering power of MET in cholesterol and TGL levels, verified that MET caused an accentuated reduction on both parameters on the organisms, such as mice and fish (*Nothobranchius guentheri*) (Geerling et al., 2014; Wei et al., 2020).

It should also be noted that in the present study the females' response to MET was quite interesting, since the cholesterol levels were decreased, the TGL content was not altered and yet they showed a significant increase in liver weight, HSI and Fulton's condition factor (K). Since cholesterol and triglycerides are extremely important for the well-being of many aquatic organisms including the zebrafish, due to their role in the lipidic homeostasis and consequently, the maintenance of various biological processes (e.g. growth and reproduction), alterations in these parameters, such as a decrease, can implicate harmful consequences for these organisms (Barros et al., 2018). The liver is one of the target organs of MET and the organ responsible for lipid homeostasis, hence it will be important to further investigate this topic in future studies.

With the aim of providing a more complete analysis of the long-term effects of MET, which so far are rather scarce, several genes directly or indirectly involved in the putative MoA of MET were selected for molecular analysis. At the end of 9 months exposure to MET, zebrafish presented alterations in the mRNA levels of acaca, idh3a, cox5aa and hmgcra genes. Interestingly, taking together with the results of biochemical parameters, it is possible to see that the intermediate concentration of MET, 2166 ng/L, was responsible for most of these changes in both analyses. Also, although males seemed to be more susceptible to biochemical changes, at the molecular level females exhibited more alterations in gene expression. At a physiological level, MET has shown to reduce hyperglycemia by suppressing gluconeogenesis and fatty acid synthesis and, on the other hand, stimulate glycolysis and fatty acid ß-oxidation. However, the underlying mechanisms by which MET operates are still elusive (Foretz et al., 2019; Gong et al., 2012). Taking into account the existing literature, since MET is expected to decrease cellular ATP levels by inhibiting the complex I and glycolysis is an important source of energy as the primary step of cellular respiration, it is expected that glycolysis emerges as a compensatory pathway (de Souza Silva et al., 2010; El-Mir et al., 2000; Foretz et al., 2010). In fact, de Souza Silva et al. (2010) demonstrated an increased in glycolysis on MET fed rats' livers as one plausible mechanism to restore oxidative phosphorylation. Additionally, Cai et al. (2020) analyzed protein levels of key enzymes of the glycolysis pathway, in hepatocellular carcinoma cells and revealed that these proteins abundance was ~3 to 4 folds higher after treatment with MET. The results of the present study seem to be in line with the literature, since mRNA transcript levels of *idh3a* and *cox5aa* reveal an upregulation in female livers, which indicate alterations in phases of the cellular respiration such as the tricarboxylic acid cycle and the electron transport chain, respectively, which may be a consequence of a stimulation of glycolysis. It is believed that changes in the ATP:ADP and AMP:ATP ratios lead to the activation of AMPK. mRNA transcriptional results revealed that prkaa1 (AMPKα1

encoding gene) expression levels were not altered in neither of the two zebrafish developmental states analyzed (20 dpf larvae and 9 mpf females and males). This is an unexpected result, however, it has been previously shown that the several isoforms of AMPK (α 1, α 2, β 1, β 2, γ 1, γ 2, γ 3) may play different roles/functions in relation to the link between the protein and the AMP:ATP ratio and that the activation of each one of the isoforms can vary from species to species and according with the conditions to which the tissue and/or organism is subject (Hawley et al., 2010; Stephenne et al., 2011). On the other hand, Activation of AMPK implies that enzymes such as HMGCR and ACC are phosphorylated and inactivated (Gong et al., 2012). Inhibition of HMGCR prevents the conversion of HMG-CoA into mevalonate, reducing cholesterol biosynthesis in the organism (Al-Habsi et al., 2016; Barros et al., 2018). This study shows MET-induced biochemical and molecular effects, with significant alterations on cholesterol levels and on gene expression in female and male livers of the rate limiting gene of the mevalonate pathway – *hmgcra*. We hypothesized that the mRNA expression of hmgcra would be increased, as a negative feedback response to lower levels of cholesterol, given the fact available studies in the literature, using mammalian models as well as zebrafish, report an upregulation of transcriptional levels of hmgcr after administration/exposure to HMGCR inhibitors, such as statins (Al-Habsi et al., 2016; Conde et al., 1999; Gouni-Berthold et al., 2008). Females in fact showed an upregulation of hmgcra, accompanied by a decrease in liver cholesterol levels. However, although male cholesterol levels decreased as anticipated, a downregulation of hmgcra was observed at the intermediate concentration of MET (2166 ng/L). Moreover, with the biochemical and molecular results related to cholesterol combined, we hypothesize that a change in AMPK activity due to MET exposure, could explain the observation, given that it was expected for MET to interfere in cholesterol biosynthesis through activation of AMPK. The expression profiles of hmgcra obtained in the present study may suggest that the low MET concentrations used in this experimental work, affects zebrafish transcription levels of *hmgcra* in a time specific manner i.e fluctuations in gene expression over time (Barros et al., 2018). Several studies have already addressed and described this time-dependent gene expression response, in a variety of aquatic organisms after exposure to different compounds (Cunha et al., 2017; Hamadeh et al., 2002; Kim et al., 2015). The expression profile of *hmgcra* in this study is an example of this matter, since 20 dpf larvae did not show differences in transcription levels, but 9-month-old females and males did. Therefore, the absence of studies on the temporal gene expression of hmgcra and other genes involved in the MoA of MET (i.e prkaa1), emphasizes the necessity of using multiple time-points in gene transcription studies with this pharmaceutical.

No differences were observed in the results of mRNA expression levels of *acaca* (enables ACC activity) and *acadm* (catalyzes fatty acids ß-oxidation) in adult males, contrary to what was expected, as TGL levels are significantly lower. However, *acaca* mRNA were significantly upregulated in females exposed to the intermediate concentration (2166 ng/L), even though a downregulation of this gene was expected (Fullerton et al., 2013; Gong et al., 2012; Zhou et al., 2001). It is possible that such effect could also be an example of fluctuations in gene expression over time.

Lastly, *igf1* levels of mRNA expression were upregulated in 20 dpf larvae. A 2021 study revealed that MET did in fact, induced the transcription levels of *igf1* (Seneviratne et al., 2021). In teleost fishes, Igf-I plays a crucial role in the growth and development of the organism, and it was already stated that environmental contaminants may target the IGF system in fish (Lyssimachou et al., 2015). More interestingly, the concentration where the upregulation of *igf1* was verified in the 20 dpf larvae, is the same where it is possible to observe an increase in length and weight in adult males and in the K of females – 13000 ng/L of MET. These results highlight the hypothesis placed above, where low concentrations are thought to have stimulatory effects in growth parameters.

Most of our results in molecular and biochemical analysis demonstrated a nonmonotonic dose-response curve (NMDRC) with an inverted U-shaped curve in females' gene expression of acaca, cox5aa, idh3a and hmgcra, and a U-shaped for males' gene expression of hmgcra and males' TGL levels. The mathematical definition of an NMDRC states that, within the range of doses assessed, such phenomenon occurs when the curves' slope changes from negative to positive, or vice versa (Kohn & Melnick, 2002). For a long period of time, the premise that "the dose makes the poison" was the starting point for rational thinking and argumentation and therefore, it was assumed that contaminants would always present a linear monotonic dose-response (Vandenberg et al., 2012). However, several long-term studies for the past years, have been documenting more regularly the occurrence of NMDRC as a response to low concentrations of several compounds, mainly endocrine-disrupting chemicals (Andrade et al., 2006; Barros et al., 2020, 2018; Crépeaux et al., 2017; Faigón et al., 2014; J. Kim et al., 2014). The mechanism(s) behind this nonmonotonicity are not totally understood, however, the explanatory basis of NMDRCs is based on adaptation mechanisms, generally dependent on the exposure time and the range of concentrations tested. As of today, there is no record of this type of response for MET, and so, we raise the possibility that this is the first study to demonstrate NMDRCs in response to an exposure to MET. The reason behind this may be that, in most cases, MET studies are of acute exposure, as well as with higher concentrations, when compared to the conditions in the present study.

CHAPTER V. Conclusion

5. Conclusion

The present study revealed numerous new and interesting effects of MET on aquatic non-target organisms, still not reported in the literature for this pharmaceutical. The longterm exposure to MET affected multi biological responses of the model organism *Danio rerio* from molecular to ecological level, including disruption of important mechanisms related with energy metabolism, lipid homeostasis and biological processes associated with growth. Moreover, the findings provided in the present study demonstrating significant impacts of MET at environmentally relevant concentrations and highlight the importance of addressing the effects of chemicals under chronic low-level concentrations. Additionally, important data were here generated with relevance for environmental risk assessment, given that aquatic organisms are chronically exposed to MET during multiple generations.

Regardless the value of this study, many questions still remain about MET's MoA and its chronic effects. Taking in consideration the contradictory results available in the literature about the effects of MET in non-target organisms, further long term studies with several environmental concentrations should be undertaken to provide additional insight into the impact of MET across different non-target aquatic organisms and development stages and to improve the knowledge of the MET underlying mechanism(s) of toxicity.

References

- Al-Habsi, A. A., Massarsky, A., & Moon, T. W. (2016). Exposure to gemfibrozil and atorvastatin affects cholesterol metabolism and steroid production in zebrafish (Danio rerio). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part B: Biochemistry and Molecular Biology, 199, 87–96. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpb.2015.11.009
- Alves-Bezerra, M., & Cohen, D. E. (2018). Triglyceride metabolism in the liver. Comprehensive Physiology, 8(1), 1–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/cphy.c170012
- Andrade, A. J. M., Grande, S. W., Talsness, C. E., Grote, K., & Chahoud, I. (2006). A dose-response study following in utero and lactational exposure to di-(2-ethylhexyl)phthalate (DEHP): Non-monotonic dose-response and low dose effects on rat brain aromatase activity. *Toxicology*, 227(3), 185–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2006.07.022
- Archer, E., Petrie, B., Kasprzyk-Hordern, B., & Wolfaardt, G. M. (2017). The fate of pharmaceuticals and personal care products (PPCPs), endocrine disrupting contaminants (EDCs), metabolites and illicit drugs in a WWTW and environmental waters. *Chemosphere*, *174*, 437–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.01.101
- Arnold, K. E., Brown, A. R., Brown, A. R., Ankley, G. T., & Sumpter, J. P. (2014).
 Medicating the environment: Assessing risks of pharmaceuticals to wildlife and ecosystems. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 369(1656). https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0569
- Arnold, S. (2012). Cytochrome c Oxidase and Its Role in Neurodegeneration and Neuroprotection. In Advances in Experimental Medicine and Biology (Vol. 748, pp. 305–339). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4614-3573-0_13
- Bailey, C. J. (2017). Metformin: historical overview. *Diabetologia*, *60*(9), 1566–1576. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4318-z
- Barros, S., Coimbra, A. M., Alves, N., Pinheiro, M., Quintana, J. B., Santos, M. M., & Neuparth, T. (2020). Chronic exposure to environmentally relevant levels of simvastatin disrupts zebrafish brain gene signaling involved in energy metabolism. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A*, *83*(3), 113–125. https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2020.1733722

Barros, S., Montes, R., Quintana, J. B., Rodil, R., André, A., Capitão, A., ... Neuparth, T.

(2018). Chronic environmentally relevant levels of simvastatin disrupt embryonic development, biochemical and molecular responses in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Aquatic Toxicology*, *201*(February), 47–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.05.014

- Blair, B. D., Crago, J. P., Hedman, C. J., Treguer, R. J. F., Magruder, C., Royer, L. S., & Klaper, R. D. (2013). Evaluation of a model for the removal of pharmaceuticals, personal care products, and hormones from wastewater. *Science of the Total Environment*, 444, 515–521. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.103
- Bound, J. P., & Voulvoulis, N. (2005). Household disposal of pharmaceuticals as a pathway for aquatic contamination in the United Kingdom. *Environmental Health Perspectives*. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8315
- Boxall, A. B. A., Rudd, M. A., Brooks, B. W., Caldwell, D. J., Choi, K., Hickmann, S., ... Van Der Kraak, G. (2012). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: What are the big questions? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *120*(9), 1221–1229. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.1104477
- Briones, R. M., Sarmah, A. K., & Padhye, L. P. (2016). A global perspective on the use, occurrence, fate and effects of anti-diabetic drug metformin in natural and engineered ecosystems. *Environmental Pollution*, *219*, 1007–1020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.07.040
- Busse, R., Blümel, M., Scheller-Kreinsen, D., & Zentner, A. (2010). *Tackling chronic disease in Europe. Strategies, interventions and challenges. Political Science* (Vol. 2009). Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0008/96632/E93736.pdf
- Cai, L., Jin, X., Zhang, J., Li, L., & Zhao, J. (2020). Metformin suppresses Nrf2-mediated chemoresistance in hepatocellular carcinoma cells by increasing glycolysis. *Aging*, *12*(17), 17582–17600. https://doi.org/10.18632/AGING.103777
- Calabrese, E. J. (2004). Hormesis: a revolution in toxicology, risk assessment and medicine. *EMBO Reports*, *5*(S1). https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.embor.7400222
- Calabrese, E. J. (2008). Hormesis: Principles and Applications for Pharmacology and Toxicology. *American Journal of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, *3*(1), 59–71. https://doi.org/10.3844/ajptsp.2008.59.71
- Carmona, E., Andreu, V., & Picó, Y. (2017). Multi-residue determination of 47 organic compounds in water, soil, sediment and fish—Turia River as case study. *Journal of*

Pharmaceutical and Biomedical Analysis, *146*(August), 117–125. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpba.2017.08.014

- Carvalho, C., Correia, S., Santos, M. S., Seiça, R., Oliveira, C. R., & Moreira, P. I. (2008).
 Metformin promotes isolated rat liver mitochondria impairment. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, 308(1–2), 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-007-9614-3
- Chaudhury, A., Duvoor, C., Reddy Dendi, V. S., Kraleti, S., Chada, A., Ravilla, R., ...
 Mirza, W. (2017). Clinical Review of Antidiabetic Drugs: Implications for Type 2
 Diabetes Mellitus Management. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, 8(January).
 https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2017.00006
- Chellappan, D. K., Yap, W. S., Bt Ahmad Suhaimi, N. A., Gupta, G., & Dua, K. (2018). Current therapies and targets for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Panminerva Medica*, *60*(3), 117–131. https://doi.org/10.23736/S0031-0808.18.03455-9
- Cheng, A. Y. Y., & Fantus, I. G. (2005). Oral antihyperglycemic therapy for type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Cmaj*, *17*2(2), 213–226. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.1031414
- Cho, N. H., Shaw, J. E., Karuranga, S., Huang, Y., da Rocha Fernandes, J. D., Ohlrogge, A. W., & Malanda, B. (2018). IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2017 and projections for 2045. *Diabetes Research and Clinical Practice*, *138*, 271–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2018.02.023
- Cleuvers, M. (2003). Aquatic ecotoxicity of pharmaceuticals including the assessment of combination effects. *Toxicology Letters*, *142*(3), 185–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-4274(03)00068-7
- Coimbra, A. M., Peixoto, M. J., Coelho, I., Lacerda, R., Carvalho, A. P., Gesto, M., ...
 Santos, M. M. (2015). Chronic effects of clofibric acid in zebrafish (Danio rerio): A multigenerational study. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *160*, 76–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2015.01.013
- Conde, K., Roy, S., Freake, H. C., Newton, R. S., & Fernandez, M. L. (1999). Atorvastatin and simvastatin have distinct effects on hydroxy methylglutaryl-CoA reductase activity and mRNA abundance in the guinea pig. *Lipids*, *34*(12), 1327–1332. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11745-999-0485-2
- Correia, S., Carvalho, C., Santos, M., Seica, R., Oliveira, C., & Moreira, P. (2008).
 Mechanisms of Action of Metformin in Type 2 Diabetes and Associated
 Complications: An Overview. *Mini-Reviews in Medicinal Chemistry*, 8(13), 1343–1354. https://doi.org/10.2174/138955708786369546

- Crépeaux, G., Eidi, H., David, M. O., Baba-Amer, Y., Tzavara, E., Giros, B., ... Gherardi, R. K. (2017). Non-linear dose-response of aluminium hydroxide adjuvant particles: Selective low dose neurotoxicity. *Toxicology*, *375*, 48–57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tox.2016.11.018
- Cummings, B. M., Needoba, J. A., & Peterson, T. D. (2018). Effect of metformin exposure on growth and photosynthetic performance in the unicellular freshwater chlorophyte, Chlorella vulgaris. *PLoS ONE*, *13*(11), 1–17. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0207041
- Cunha, V., Santos, M. M., Moradas-Ferreira, P., Castro, L. F. C., & Ferreira, M. (2017).
 Simvastatin modulates gene expression of key receptors in zebrafish embryos.
 Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part A, *80*(9), 465–476.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/15287394.2017.1335258
- Daughton, C. G. (2016). Pharmaceuticals and the Environment (PiE): Evolution and impact of the published literature revealed by bibliometric analysis. *Science of the Total Environment*, *562*, 391–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.109
- Daughton, C. G., & Ternes, T. A. (1999). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the environment: Agents of subtle change? *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107(SUPPL. 6), 907–938. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.99107s6907
- Davies, M. J., D'Alessio, D. A., Fradkin, J., Kernan, W. N., Mathieu, C., Mingrone, G., ...
 Buse, J. B. (2018). Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2018. A consensus report by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the european association for the study of diabetes (EASD). *Diabetes Care*, *41*(12), 2669–2701. https://doi.org/10.2337/dci18-0033
- de Jesus Gaffney, V., Cardoso, V. V., Cardoso, E., Teixeira, A. P., Martins, J., Benoliel, M. J., & Almeida, C. M. M. (2017). Occurrence and behaviour of pharmaceutical compounds in a Portuguese wastewater treatment plant: Removal efficiency through conventional treatment processes. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 24(17), 14717–14734. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-017-9012-7
- de Solla, S. R., Gilroy, A. M., Klinck, J. S., King, L. E., McInnis, R., Struger, J., ... Gillis, P. L. (2016). Bioaccumulation of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in the unionid mussel Lasmigona costata in a river receiving wastewater effluent. *Chemosphere*, *146*, 486–496. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.12.022

de Souza Silva, F. M., Rocha Alves da Silva, M. H., Bracht, A., Eller, G. J., Constantin, R.

P., & Yamamoto, N. S. (2010). Effects of metformin on glucose metabolism of perfused rat livers. *Molecular and Cellular Biochemistry*, *340*(1–2), 283–289. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-010-0429-2

- Desbiolles, F., Malleret, L., Tiliacos, C., Wong-Wah-Chung, P., & Laffont-Schwob, I. (2018). Occurrence and ecotoxicological assessment of pharmaceuticals: Is there a risk for the Mediterranean aquatic environment? *Science of the Total Environment*, 639, 1334–1348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.351
- Detaille, D., Guigas, B., Leverve, X., Wiernsperger, N., & Devos, P. (2002). Obligatory role of membrane events in the regulatory effect of metformin on the respiratory chain function. *Biochemical Pharmacology*, 63(7), 1259–1272. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-2952(02)00858-4
- EEA. (2010). Pharmaceuticals in the environment Results of an EEA workshop. *Annual Review of Environment and Resources*, (1), 1–34. https://doi.org/10.2800/31181
- EFPIA. (2020). The Pharmaceutical Industry : a Key Asset To Scientific and Medical Progress the Pharmaceutical Industry, 28. Retrieved from: https://www.efpia.eu/media/554521/efpia_pharmafigures_2020_web.pdf
- El-Mir, M. Y., Nogueira, V., Fontaine, E., Avéret, N., Rigoulet, M., & Leverve, X. (2000). Dimethylbiguanide inhibits cell respiration via an indirect effect targeted on the respiratory chain complex I. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, *275*(1), 223–228. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.275.1.223
- Elizalde-Velázquez, G. A., & Gómez-Oliván, L. M. (2020). Occurrence, toxic effects and removal of metformin in the aquatic environments in the world: Recent trends and perspectives. Science of the Total Environment, 702, 134924. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134924
- Elliott, S. M., Brigham, M. E., Lee, K. E., Banda, J. A., Choy, S. J., Gefell, D. J., ... Jorgenson, Z. G. (2017). Contaminants of emerging concern in tributaries to the Laurentian Great Lakes: I. Patterns of occurrence. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(9), e0182868. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0182868
- Faigón, A., García Inza, M., Lipovetzky, J., Redin, E., Carbonetto, S., Sambuco Salomone, L., & Berbeglia, F. (2014). Experimental evidence and modeling of non-monotonic responses in MOS dosimeters. *Radiation Physics and Chemistry*, *95*, 44–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.radphyschem.2013.04.029

Fang, L., & Miller, Y. I. (2012). Emerging applications for zebrafish as a model organism to

study oxidative mechanisms and their roles in inflammation and vascular accumulation of oxidized lipids. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *53*(7), 1411–1420. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2012.08.004

- Fekadu, S., Alemayehu, E., Dewil, R., & Van der Bruggen, B. (2019). Pharmaceuticals in freshwater aquatic environments: A comparison of the African and European challenge. *Science of the Total Environment*, 654, 324–337. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.11.072
- Fent, K., Weston, A. A., & Caminada, D. (2006). Ecotoxicology of human pharmaceuticals. *Aquatic Toxicology*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2005.09.009
- Foretz, M., Guigas, B., Bertrand, L., Pollak, M., & Viollet, B. (2014). Metformin: From mechanisms of action to therapies. *Cell Metabolism*, 20(6), 953–966. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2014.09.018
- Foretz, M., Guigas, B., & Viollet, B. (2019). Understanding the glucoregulatory mechanisms of metformin in type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*, *15*(10), 569–589. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41574-019-0242-2
- Foretz, M., Hébrard, S., Leclerc, J., Zarrinpashneh, E., Soty, M., Mithieux, G., ... Viollet,
 B. (2010). Metformin inhibits hepatic gluconeogenesis in mice independently of the
 LKB1/AMPK pathway via a decrease in hepatic energy state. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *120*(7), 2355–2369. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCl40671DS1
- Fullerton, M. D., Galic, S., Marcinko, K., Sikkema, S., Pulinilkunnil, T., Chen, Z.-P., ... Steinberg, G. R. (2013). Single phosphorylation sites in Acc1 and Acc2 regulate lipid homeostasis and the insulin-sensitizing effects of metformin. *Nature Medicine*, *19*(12), 1649–1654. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3372
- García-García, G., Reyes-Carrillo, G. I., Sarma, S. S. S., & Nandini, S. (2017). Population level responses of rotifers (Brachionus calyciflorus and Plationus patulus) to the antidiabetic drug, metformin. *Journal of Environmental Biology*, *38*(6(SI)), 1213–1219. https://doi.org/10.22438/jeb/38/6(SI)/06
- Garcia, G. R., Noyes, P. D., & Tanguay, R. L. (2016). Advancements in zebrafish applications for 21st century toxicology. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics*, 161, 11–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pharmthera.2016.03.009
- Geerling, J. J., Boon, M. R., Van Der Zon, G. C., Van Den Berg, S. A. A., Van Den Hoek,A. M., Lombès, M., ... Guigas, B. (2014). Metformin lowers plasma triglycerides bypromoting vldl-triglyceride clearance by brown adipose tissue in mice. *Diabetes*,

63(3), 880-891. https://doi.org/10.2337/db13-0194

- Ghoshdastidar, A. J., Fox, S., & Tong, A. Z. (2015). The presence of the top prescribed pharmaceuticals in treated sewage effluents and receiving waters in southwest nova scotia, canada. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 22(1), 689–700. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-014-3400-z
- Godoy, A. A., Domingues, I., Arsénia Nogueira, A. J., & Kummrow, F. (2018).
 Ecotoxicological effects, water quality standards and risk assessment for the antidiabetic metformin. *Environmental Pollution*, 243, 534–542.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2018.09.031
- Gong, L., Goswami, S., Giacomini, K. M., Altman, R. B., & Klein, T. E. (2012). Metformin pathways. *Pharmacogenetics and Genomics*, 22(11), 820–827. https://doi.org/10.1097/FPC.0b013e3283559b22
- Gouni-Berthold, I., Berthold, H. K., Gylling, H., Hallikainen, M., Giannakidou, E., Stier, S.,
 ... Krone, W. (2008). Effects of ezetimibe and/or simvastatin on LDL receptor protein expression and on LDL receptor and HMG-CoA reductase gene expression: A randomized trial in healthy men. *Atherosclerosis*, *198*(1), 198–207. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2007.09.034
- Gross-Sorokin, M. Y., Roast, S. D., & Brighty, G. C. (2006). Assessment of feminization of male fish in english rivers by the environment agency of England and Wales. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, *114*(SUPPL.1), 147–151. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.8068
- Hamadeh, H. K., Bushel, P. R., Jayadev, S., Martin, K., DiSorbo, O., Sieber, S., ...
 Afshari, C. A. (2002). Gene expression analysis reveals chemical-specific profiles. *Toxicological Sciences*, *67*(2), 219–231. https://doi.org/10.1093/toxsci/67.2.219
- Harwood Jr, H. J. (2005). Treating the metabolic syndrome: acetyl-CoA carboxylase inhibition. *Expert Opinion on Therapeutic Targets*, 9(2), 267–281. https://doi.org/10.1517/14728222.9.2.267
- Hawley, S. A., Ross, F. A., Chevtzoff, C., Green, K. A., Evans, A., Fogarty, S., ... Hardie,
 D. G. (2010). Use of cells expressing γ subunit variants to identify diverse mechanisms of AMPK activation. *Cell Metabolism*, *11*(6), 554–565.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2010.04.001
- Houtman, C. J., ten Broek, R., de Jong, K., Pieterse, B., & Kroesbergen, J. (2013). A multicomponent snapshot of pharmaceuticals and pesticides in the river Meuse

basin. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 32(11), n/a-n/a. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2351

- Howe, K., Clark, M. D., Torroja, C. F., Torrance, J., Berthelot, C., Muffato, M., ... Stemple,
 D. L. (2013). The zebrafish reference genome sequence and its relationship to the human genome. *Nature*, *496*(7446), 498–503. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature12111
- Huber, S., Remberger, M., Kaj, L., Schlabach, M., Jörundsdóttir, H. T., Vester, J., ... Dam,
 M. (2016). A first screening and risk assessment of pharmaceuticals and additives in personal care products in waste water, sludge, recipient water and sediment from
 Faroe Islands, Iceland and Greenland. *Science of the Total Environment*, *562*(9038), 13–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.063
- IDF. (2021). International Diabetes Association. Belgium. 2020. Available at: https://idf.org/. Last acess: 06 june 2021
- INFARMED, I. P. (2020). Análise de consumo de medicamentos em meio ambulatório -INFARMED, I. P.
- Jacob, S., Dötsch, A., Knoll, S., Köhler, H. R., Rogall, E., Stoll, D., ... Triebskorn, R.
 (2018). Does the antidiabetic drug metformin affect embryo development and the health of brown trout (Salmo trutta f. fario)? *Environmental Sciences Europe*, *30*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12302-018-0179-4
- Kadenbach, B., Hüttemann, M., Arnold, S., Lee, I., & Bender, E. (2000). Mitochondrial energy metabolism is regulated via nuclear-coded subunits of cytochrome c oxidase11This article is dedicated to the memory of the late Professor Lars Ernster. *Free Radical Biology and Medicine*, *29*(3–4), 211–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0891-5849(00)00305-1
- Kidd, K. A., Blanchfield, P. J., Mills, K. H., Palace, V. P., Evans, R. E., Lazorchak, J. M., & Flick, R. W. (2007). Collapse of a fish population after exposure to a synthetic estrogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 104(21), 8897–8901. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0609568104
- Kim, B. M., Rhee, J. S., Hwang, U. K., Seo, J. S., Shin, K. H., & Lee, J. S. (2015). Doseand time-dependent expression of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) and aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT) in PCB-, B[a]P-, and TBTexposed intertidal copepod Tigriopus japonicus. *Chemosphere*, *120*, 398–406. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.07.099

Kim, J., Lee, S., Kim, C. min, Seo, J., Park, Y., Kwon, D., ... Choi, K. (2014). Non-

monotonic concentration-response relationship of TiO2 nanoparticles in freshwater cladocerans under environmentally relevant UV-A light. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *101*(1), 240–247. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.01.002

- Kimmel, C. B., Ballard, W. W., Kimmel, S. R., Ullmann, B., & Schilling, T. F. (1995). Stages of embryonic development of the zebrafish. *Developmental Dynamics*, 203(3), 253–310. https://doi.org/10.1002/aja.1002030302
- Kohn, M. C., & Melnick, R. L. (2002). Biochemical origins of the non-monotonic receptormediated dose-response. *Journal of Molecular Endocrinology*, *29*(1), 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1677/jme.0.0290113
- Kolpin, D. W., Furlong, E. T., Meyer, M. T., Thurman, E. M., Zaugg, S. D., Barber, L. B., & Buxton, H. T. (2002). Pharmaceuticals, Hormones, and Other Organic Wastewater Contaminants in U.S. Streams, 1999–2000: A National Reconnaissance. *Environmental Science & Technology*, *36*(6), 1202–1211. https://doi.org/10.1021/es011055j
- Kong, L., Kadokami, K., Wang, S., Duong, H. T., & Chau, H. T. C. (2015). Monitoring of 1300 organic micro-pollutants in surface waters from Tianjin, North China. *Chemosphere*, *122*, 125–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.11.025
- Kosma, C. I., Lambropoulou, D. A., & Albanis, T. A. (2015). Comprehensive study of the antidiabetic drug metformin and its transformation product guanylurea in Greek wastewaters. *Water Research*, *70*, 436–448. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2014.12.010
- Kot-Wasik, A., Jakimska, A., & Śliwka-Kaszyńska, M. (2016). Occurrence and seasonal variations of 25 pharmaceutical residues in wastewater and drinking water treatment plants. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, *188*(12). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-016-5637-0
- Kümmerer, K. (2010). Pharmaceuticals in the environment. Annual Review of Environment and Resources, 35, 57–75. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-environ-052809-161223
- Larsson, D. G. J. (2014). One contribution of 18 to a Theme Issue "Assessing risks and impacts of pharmaceuticals in the environment on wildlife and ecosystems". Pollution from drug manufacturing: review and perspectives. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2013.0571

Lee, D., & Choi, K. (2019). Comparison of regulatory frameworks of environmental risk

assessments for human pharmaceuticals in EU, USA, and Canada. *Science of the Total Environment*, 671, 1026–1035. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.03.372

- Lele, Z., & Krone, P. H. (1996). The zebrafish as a model system in developmental, toxicological and transgenic research. *Biotechnology Advances*, *14*(1), 57–72. https://doi.org/10.1016/0734-9750(96)00004-3
- Ling, S., Shan, Q., Liu, P., Feng, T., Zhang, X., Xiang, P., ... Xu, X. (2017). Metformin ameliorates arsenic trioxide hepatotoxicity via inhibiting mitochondrial complex i. *Cell Death and Disease*, 8(11). https://doi.org/10.1038/cddis.2017.482
- Livak, K. J., & Schmittgen, T. D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2-ΔΔCT method. *Methods*, *25*(4), 402–408. https://doi.org/10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Lyssimachou, A., Santos, J. G., André, A., Soares, J., & Lima, D. (2015). The Mammalian "Obesogen" Tributyltin Targets Hepatic Triglyceride Accumulation and the Transcriptional Regulation of Lipid Metabolism in the Liver and Brain of Zebrafish, 1– 22. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0143911
- Marengoni, A., Angleman, S., Melis, R., Mangialasche, F., Karp, A., Garmen, A., ...
 Fratiglioni, L. (2011). Aging with multimorbidity: A systematic review of the literature. *Ageing Research Reviews*, *10*(4), 430–439. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2011.03.003
- Markiewicz, M., Jungnickel, C., Stolte, S., Białk-Bielińska, A., Kumirska, J., & Mrozik, W. (2017). Primary degradation of antidiabetic drugs. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 324, 428–435. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2016.11.008
- Nash, R. D. M., Valencia, A. H., & Geffen, A. J. (2006). The origin of Fulton's condition factor Setting the record straight. *Fisheries*, *31*(5), 236–238.
- Neuparth, T., Correia, A. D., Costa, F. O., Lima, G., & Costa, M. H. (2005). Multi-level assessment of chronic toxicity of estuarine sediments with the amphipod Gammarus locusta: I. Biochemical endpoints. *Marine Environmental Research*, 60(1), 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marenvres.2004.08.006
- Neuparth, T., Lopes, A. I., Alves, N., Oliveira, J. M. A., & Santos, M. M. (2019). Does the antidepressant sertraline show chronic effects on aquatic invertebrates at environmentally relevant concentrations? A case study with the keystone amphipod, Gammarus locusta. *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, *183*(August), 109486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoenv.2019.109486

Neuparth, T., Martins, C., Santos, C. B. d. los, Costa, M. H., Martins, I., Costa, P. M., &

Santos, M. M. (2014). Hypocholesterolaemic pharmaceutical simvastatin disrupts reproduction and population growth of the amphipod Gammarus locusta at the ng/L range. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *155*, 337–347. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2014.07.009

- Niemuth, N. J., Jordan, R., Crago, J., Blanksma, C., Johnson, R., & Klaper, R. D. (2015). Metformin exposure at environmentally relevant concentrations causes potential endocrine disruption in adult male fish. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 34(2), 291–296. https://doi.org/10.1002/etc.2793
- Niemuth, N. J., & Klaper, R. D. (2015). Emerging wastewater contaminant metformin causes intersex and reduced fecundity in fish. *Chemosphere*, *135*, 38–45. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2015.03.060
- Niemuth, N. J., & Klaper, R. D. (2018). Low-dose metformin exposure causes changes in expression of endocrine disruption-associated genes. *Aquatic Toxicology*, 195(December 2017), 33–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2017.12.003
- Oaks, J. L., Gilbert, M., Virani, M. Z., Watson, R. T., Meteyer, C. U., Rideout, B. A., ... Ahmed Khan, A. (2004). Diclofenac residues as the cause of vulture population decline in Pakistan. *Nature*, *427*(6975), 630–633. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature02317
- OECD. (2019). Health at a Glance 2019: OECD Indicators. OECD Publishing, Paris. OECD. https://doi.org/10.1787/4dd50c09-en
- OECD. (2021). Pharmaceutical Market Key Indicators. (2021). Available at: https://stats.oecd.org/. Last acess: 25 october 2021
- Opazo, R., Valladares, L., & Romero, J. (2017). Comparison of gene expression patterns of key growth genes between different rate growths in zebrafish (Danio rerio) siblings. *Latin American Journal of Aquatic Research*, 45(4), 766–775. https://doi.org/10.3856/vol45-issue4-fulltext-12
- Ortiz de García, S. A., Pinto Pinto, G., García-Encina, P. A., & Irusta-Mata, R. (2014). Ecotoxicity and environmental risk assessment of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in aquatic environments and wastewater treatment plants. *Ecotoxicology*, 23(8), 1517–1533. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10646-014-1293-8
- Owen, M. R., Doran, E., & Halestrap, A. P. (2000). Evidence that metformin exerts its antidiabetic effects through inhibition of complex 1 of the mitochondrial respiratory chain. *Biochemical Journal*, 348(3), 607–614. https://doi.org/10.1042/bj3480607

- Padilla, S., & Glaberman, S. (2020). The zebrafish (Danio rerio) model in toxicity testing. An Introduction to Interdisciplinary Toxicology. INC. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-813602-7.00037-5
- Pain, D. J., Cunningham, A. A., Donald, P. F., Duckworth, J. W., Houston, D. C., Katzner, T., ... Timmins, R. (2003). Causes and effects of temporospatial declines of Gyps vultures in Asia. *Conservation Biology*, *17*(3), 661–671. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2003.01740.x
- Parrott, J. L., Pacepavicius, G., Shires, K., Clarence, S., Khan, H., Gardiner, M., ... Alaee, M. (2021). Fathead minnow exposed to environmentally relevant concentrations of metformin for one life cycle show no adverse effects. *Facets*, *6*, 998–1023. https://doi.org/10.1139/facets-2020-0106
- Purdom, C. E., Hardiman, P. A., Bye, V. J., Eno, N. C., Tyler, C. R., & Sumpter, J. P. (1994). Estrogenic Effects of Effluents from Sewage Treatment Works. *Chemistry* and Ecology, 8(4), 275–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/02757549408038554
- Quesada, H. B., Baptista, A. T. A., Cusioli, L. F., Seibert, D., de Oliveira Bezerra, C., & Bergamasco, R. (2019). Surface water pollution by pharmaceuticals and an alternative of removal by low-cost adsorbents: A review. *Chemosphere*, *222*, 766–780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.02.009
- Rena, G., Hardie, D. G., & Pearson, E. R. (2017). The mechanisms of action of metformin. *Diabetologia*. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-017-4342-z
- Rivera-Utrilla, J., Sánchez-Polo, M., Ferro-García, M. Á., Prados-Joya, G., & Ocampo-Pérez, R. (2013). Pharmaceuticals as emerging contaminants and their removal from water. A review. *Chemosphere*, *93*(7), 1268–1287. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.07.059
- Ruzicka L, Howe DG, Ramachandran S, Toro S, Van Slyke CE, Bradford YM, Eagle A, Fashena D, Frazer K, Kalita P, Mani P, Martin R, Moxon ST, Paddock H, Pich C, Schaper K, Shao X, Singer A, Westerfield M. (2019). The Zebrafish Information Network: new support for non-coding genes, richer Gene Ontology annotations and the Alliance of Genome Resources. Nucleic Acids Res. Jan 8;47(D1):D867-D873. https:// doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1090
- Sadutto, D., Álvarez-Ruiz, R., & Picó, Y. (2020). Systematic assessment of extraction of pharmaceuticals and personal care products in water and sediment followed by liquid chromatography–tandem mass spectrometry. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*,

412(1), 113-127. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-019-02207-0

- Santos, L. H. M. L. M., Araújo, A. N., Fachini, A., Pena, A., Delerue-Matos, C., & Montenegro, M. C. B. S. M. (2010). Ecotoxicological aspects related to the presence of pharmaceuticals in the aquatic environment. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, *175*(1–3), 45–95. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.10.100
- Santos, L. H. M. L. M., Gros, M., Rodriguez-Mozaz, S., Delerue-Matos, C., Pena, A., Barceló, D., & Montenegro, M. C. B. S. M. (2013). Contribution of hospital effluents to the load of pharmaceuticals in urban wastewaters: Identification of ecologically relevant pharmaceuticals. *Science of the Total Environment*, 461–462, 302–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.04.077
- Schwartz, D. M., & Wolins, N. E. (2007). A simple and rapid method to assay triacylglycerol in cells and tissues. *Journal of Lipid Research*, 48(11), 2514–2520. https://doi.org/10.1194/jlr.D700017-JLR200
- Scott, T. M., Phillips, P. J., Kolpin, D. W., Colella, K. M., Furlong, E. T., Foreman, W. T., & Gray, J. L. (2018). Pharmaceutical manufacturing facility discharges can substantially increase the pharmaceutical load to U.S. wastewaters. *Science of the Total Environment*, 636, 69–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.04.160
- Segner, H. (2009). Zebrafish (Danio rerio) as a model organism for investigating endocrine disruption. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology - C Toxicology and Pharmacology, 149(2), 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cbpc.2008.10.099
- Seneviratne, A., Cave, L., Hyde, G., Moestrup, S. K., Carling, D., Mason, J. C., ... Boyle, J. J. (2021). Metformin directly suppresses atherosclerosis in normoglycaemic mice via haematopoietic adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase.
 Cardiovascular Research, *117*(5), 1295–1308. https://doi.org/10.1093/cvr/cvaa171
- Soares, J., Coimbra, A. M., Reis-Henriques, M. A., Monteiro, N. M., Vieira, M. N., Oliveira, J. M. A., ... Carvalho, A. P. (2009). Disruption of zebrafish (Danio rerio) embryonic development after full life-cycle parental exposure to low levels of ethinylestradiol. *Aquatic Toxicology*, *95*(4), 330–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquatox.2009.07.021
- Stephenne, X., Foretz, M., Taleux, N., Van Der Zon, G. C., Sokal, E., Hue, L., ... Guigas, B. (2011). Metformin activates AMP-activated protein kinase in primary human hepatocytes by decreasing cellular energy status. *Diabetologia*, *54*(12), 3101–3110. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00125-011-2311-5
- Tisler, S., & Zwiener, C. (2018). Formation and occurrence of transformation products of

metformin in wastewater and surface water. *Science of the Total Environment*, 628–629, 1121–1129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.02.105

- Trautwein, C., Berset, J. D., Wolschke, H., & Kümmerer, K. (2014). Occurrence of the antidiabetic drug Metformin and its ultimate transformation product Guanylurea in several compartments of the aquatic cycle. *Environment International*, 70, 203–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2014.05.008
- Ussery, E., Bridges, K. N., Pandelides, Z., Kirkwood, A. E., Bonetta, D., Venables, B. J.,
 ... Holdway, D. (2018). Effects of environmentally relevant metformin exposure on
 Japanese medaka (Oryzias latipes). *Aquatic Toxicology*, *205*(October), 58–65.
 https://doi.org/10.2800/31181
- Van Oostrom, S. H., Picavet, H. S. J., De Bruin, S. R., Stirbu, I., Korevaar, J. C., Schellevis, F. G., & Baan, C. A. (2014). Multimorbidity of chronic diseases and health care utilization in general practice. *BMC Family Practice*, *15*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2296-15-61
- Vandenberg, L. N., Colborn, T., Hayes, T. B., Heindel, J. J., Jacobs, D. R., Lee, D. H., ... Myers, J. P. (2012). Hormones and endocrine-disrupting chemicals: Low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses. *Endocrine Reviews*, *33*(3), 378–455. https://doi.org/10.1210/er.2011-1050
- Vatovec, C., Kolodinsky, J., Callas, P., Hart, C., & Gallagher, K. (2021). Pharmaceutical pollution sources and solutions: Survey of human and veterinary medication purchasing, use, and disposal. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 285(July 2020), 112106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2021.112106
- Versonnen, B. J., & Janssen, C. R. (2004). Xenoestrogenic effects of ethinylestradiol in zebrafish (Danio rerio). *Environmental Toxicology*, 19(3), 198–206. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.20012
- Vial, G., Detaille, D., & Guigas, B. (2019). Role of mitochondria in the mechanism(s) of action of metformin. *Frontiers in Endocrinology*, *10*(MAY), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2019.00294
- Wei, J., Qi, H., Liu, K., Zhao, C., Bian, Y., & Li, G. (2020). Effects of metformin on life span, cognitive ability, and inflammatory response in a short-lived fish. *Journals of Gerontology - Series A Biological Sciences and Medical Sciences*, 75(11), 2042– 2050. https://doi.org/10.1093/gerona/glaa109
- WHO. (2019). Model List of Essential Medicines, 21st List, 2019. Geneva: World Health

Organization; 2019. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.

- Williams, T. D., Mirbahai, L., & Chipman, J. K. (2014). The toxicological application of transcriptomics and epigenomics in zebrafish and other teleosts. *Briefings in Functional Genomics*, *13*(2), 157–171. https://doi.org/10.1093/bfgp/elt053
- Xie, H., Hao, H., Xu, N., Liang, X., Gao, D., Xu, Y., ... Wong, M. (2019). Pharmaceuticals and personal care products in water, sediments, aquatic organisms, and fish feeds in the Pearl River Delta: Occurrence, distribution, potential sources, and health risk assessment. *Science of the Total Environment*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.12.222
- Xu, T., Brandmaier, S., Messias, A. C., Herder, C., Draisma, H. H. M., Demirkan, A., ...
 Wang-Sattler, R. (2015). Effects of Metformin on Metabolite Profiles and LDL
 Cholesterol in Patients With Type 2 Diabetes. *Diabetes Care*, *38*(10), 1858–1867. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc15-0658
- Yang, B.-Y., Zhai, G., Gong, Y.-L., Su, J.-Z., Peng, X.-Y., Shang, G.-H., ... Xie, S.-Q. (2018a). Different physiological roles of insulin receptors in mediating nutrient metabolism in zebrafish. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism*, 315(1), E38–E51. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpendo.00227.2017
- Yang, P. K., Hsu, C. Y., Chen, M. J., Lai, M. Y., Li, Z. R., Chen, C. H., ... Ho, H. N. (2018b). The efficacy of 24-month metformin for improving menses, hormones, and metabolic profiles in polycystic ovary syndrome. *Journal of Clinical Endocrinology and Metabolism*, *103*(3), 890–899. https://doi.org/10.1210/jc.2017-01739
- Yao, B., Yan, S., Lian, L., Yang, X., Wan, C., Dong, H., & Song, W. (2018). Occurrence and indicators of pharmaceuticals in Chinese streams: A nationwide study. *Environmental Pollution*, 236, 889–898. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2017.10.032
- Yoon, M. (2009). The role of PPARα in lipid metabolism and obesity: Focusing on the effects of estrogen on PPARα actions. *Pharmacological Research*, 60(3), 151–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2009.02.004
- Zhou, G., Myers, R., Li, Y., Chen, Y., Shen, X., Fenyk-Melody, J., ... Moller, D. E. (2001).
 Role of AMP-activated protein kinase in mechanism of metformin action. *Journal of Clinical Investigation*, *108*(8), 1167–1174. https://doi.org/10.1172/JCI13505
- Zi, F., Zi, H., Li, Y., He, J., Shi, Q., & Cai, Z. (2018). Metformin and cancer: An existing drug for cancer prevention and therapy (review). *Oncology Letters*, *15*(1), 683–690. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2017.7412